Tetrahedron 65 (2009) 2839-2877



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Tetrahedror

Tetrahedron

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/tet

Tetrahedron Report number 869

Asymmetric hetero-Diels-Alder reactions of carbonyl compounds

Hélène Pellissier*

Université Paul Cézanne–Aix-Marseille III, Institut Sciences Moléculaires de Marseille, UMR CNRS n° 6263, Equipe Chirosciences, Service 541, Avenue Esc. Normandie-Niemen, 13397 Marseille Cedex 20, France

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 17 December 2008 Available online 20 January 2009

Contents

1	Introduction	2840
2	Reactions of unactivated aldebudge	2010
2.	A Chiral antiliaria	
	2.1. Chiral auxiliaries	
	2.2. Chiral catalysts	
	2.2.1. Chiral chromium catalysts	
	2.2.2. Chiral titanium catalysts	
	2.2.3. Chiral rhodium catalysts	
	2.2.4. Other chiral metal catalysts	
	2.2.5. Chiral organocatalysts	
3.	Reactions of activated aldehydes	
4.	Reactions of activated ketones	
	4.1. Chiral copper catalysts	
	4.2. Other chiral catalysts	
5.	Inverse HDA reactions of α,β -unsaturated ketones and α,β -unsaturated aldehydes	
	5.1. Chiral auxiliaries	
	5.2. Chiral catalysts	
	5.2.1. Chiral copper catalysts	
	5.2.2. Chiral chromium catalysts	
	5.2.3. Other chiral metal catalysts	
	5.2.4. Chiral organocatalysts	

Tel.: +33 4 91 28 27 65. *E-mail address:* h.pellissier@univ-cezanne.fr

Abbreviations: Ac, acetyl; Adam, adamantanyl; Ar, aryl; BAMOL, 1,1′-biaryl-2,2′-dimethanol; BINAP, 2,2′-bis(diphenylphosphanyl)-1,1′-binaphthyl; BINOL, 1,1′-bi-2naphthol; BIPHEP, 2,2′-bis(diphenylphosphino)-1,1′-biphenyl; Bmim, 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium; Bn, benzyl; BNP, 1,1′-binaphthyl-2,2′-diylphosphate; Boc, *tert*-butoxycarbonyl; Box, bisoxazoline; BPTPI, 3-(benzene-fused-phthalimido)-2-piperidinonate; BQd, benzoylquinidine; Bu, butyl; Bz, benzoyl; cat, catalyst; Cbz, benzyloxycarbonyl; Cy, cyclohexyl; de, diastereomeric excess; DIANANE, *endo,endo-2*,5-diaminonorbornane; DIPEA, diisopropylethylamine; DPE, diphenylethane; ee, enantiomeric excess; EM, energy minimisation; Et, ethyl; Fmoc, 9-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl; fod, 6,6,7,7,8,8,8-heptafluoro-2,2-dimethyl-3,5-octanedionate; Fu, furyl; HDA, hetero-Diels–Alder; Hept, heptyl; Hex, hexyl; hfc, 2-{[3-chloro-4-fluoro-phenylimino]methyl}phenol; HMDSA, bis(trimethylsilyl]amide; L, ligand; LA, Lewis acid; Me, methyl; MEOX, methyl 1-oxo-(2oxazolidine)-4-carboxylate; MEPY, methyl 2-oxopyrrolidine-5-carboxylate; Mes, methanesulfonyl (mesyl); MOM, methoxymethyl; MPPIM, 4-methoxycarbonyl-1-(3-phenyl propanoyl)-2-oxoimidazolidinate; MS, molecular sieves; MTBE, methyl *tert*-butyl ether; Naph, naphthyl; Nf, nonaflate; NOBIN, 2-amino-2′-hydroxy-1,1′-binaphthyl; Non, nonyl; NUPHOS, 1,4-bis(diphenylphosphino)-1,3-butadiene bridged diphosphine; Oct, octyl; ONIOM, our own *n*-layered integrated molecular orbital and molecular mechanics method; PCC, pyridine chlorochromate; PDC, pyridinium dichromate; PEC, poly(ethylene glycol); Pent, pentyl; Ph, henyl; PHEBox, 2,6-bis(oxazoliyl)phenyl; PhthN, phthalimido; Piv, pivaloyl; PMB, *p*-methoxybenzoyl; Pr, propyl; PS, polystyrene; PT, henyltetrazolyl; Py, pyridyl; PYBOX, 2,6-bis(2-oxazolyl)pyridine; Salen, 1,2-bis(salicylidenamino)ethane; TADDOL, *a*,*a*,*a*,*a'*-tetraphenyl-2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolane-4,5-dimethanol; TBAF, tetra-n-butylammonium fluoride; TBDPS, *tert*-butyldiphenylsilyl; TBS, *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl

6.	Conclusions	. 2874
	References and notes	. 2874
	Biographical sketch	. 2877

1. Introduction

Since its discovery in 1928 by Diels and Alder,¹ the Diels–Alder reaction has become one of the cornerstone reactions in organic chemistry for the construction of six-membered rings,² The high regio- and stereoselectivity typically displayed by this cycloaddition, the ease of its execution and the feature that, during its course, up to four new stereocentres may be created simultaneously have resulted in innumerable applications of this transformation in the construction of highly complex targets. Indeed, this reaction has undergone intensive development, becoming of fundamental importance for synthetic, physical and theoretical chemists. Today, this powerful reaction is one of the most examined and well appreciated reactions, having an enormous spectrum of application in chemistry. The preparation of numerous compounds of academic and industrial interest is widely based on cycloaddition reactions to carbonyl compounds. There are many variants of the Diels-Alder reaction, such as the intramolecular [4+2] cycloaddition or the hetero-Diels–Alder (HDA) reaction (Scheme 1).³ Indeed, the pivotal role that the carbo Diels-Alder reaction often plays in the construction of carbocycles can be taken over by the HDA reaction in the regio- and stereoselective synthesis of heterocycles.⁴



Scheme 1. HDA reaction of carbonyl compounds.

Moreover, the Diels-Alder reaction has been found to be an excellent tool to build up chiral cyclic systems.⁵ The reason for the interest in obtaining optically active compounds using the Diels-Alder methodology is that these reactions normally are easy to perform and proceed generally in a highly regio- and diastereoselective manner. Furthermore, the Diels-Alder reaction can give up to four new chiral centres. In particular, the asymmetric HDA reaction is among the most powerful available methodologies for the construction of optically active six-membered heterocycles, with extensive synthetic applications in natural or unnatural products with a wide range of biological activity.⁶ Indeed, the asymmetric HDA reaction, involving carbonyl compounds as the heterodienophiles or the heterodienes, has allowed the preparation of numerous chiral six-membered oxygen-containing heterocycles.^{3a,7} The most typical products are substituted tetrahydropyran rings, which are frequently occurring structural motifs in biologically active natural products. Among the various carboncarbon bond-forming reactions, the enantioselective HDA reaction of carbonyl compounds has emerged as an important method in synthetic organic chemistry, because carbon-carbon and carbonoxygen bonds are both formed to stereoselectively afford sixmembered pyran derivatives. Heterocyclic synthesis by using the Diels-Alder methodology is particularly useful, because of the highly stereoselective nature of the reaction, which often results in the formation of only one isomer, a remarkable selectivity considering the fact that as many as four diastereoisomers can, in principle, be formed in the reaction of a diene with an aldehyde. There are two basic strategies for asymmetric HDA reactions of carbonyl compounds in order to control the absolute configuration of the

product. The first strategy involves the use of a diene and/or a dienophile with a chiral auxiliary, while the second involves the generally more economical use of a chiral catalyst. This approach allows the direct formation of chiral compounds from achiral substrates under mild conditions. To achieve catalytic enantioselective HDA reactions of carbonyl compounds, coordination of a chiral Lewis acid to the carbonyl functionality is necessary. This coordination activates the substrate and provides the chiral environment that forces the approach of a diene to the substrate from the less sterically hindered face, introducing enantioselectivity in the reaction. In recent years, an intensive effort has been developed to achieve asymmetric HDA reactions of carbonyl compounds, and the synthetic development of catalytic enantioselective HDA reactions has especially been in focus, while the number of mechanistic studies is limited. The basic idea in performing these reactions in a catalytic enantioselective manner is to use the Lewisacid properties for coordination to the carbonyl compound, leading to its activation, and the chiral ligand, which is coordinated to the Lewis acid, to direct the three-dimensional approach of the diene to one of the faces of the carbonyl compound. A large variety of chiral Lewis-acid complexes can catalyse the HDA reaction of carbonyl compounds with dienes. On the other hand, a number of asymmetric HDA reactions, involving either chiral dienophiles or chiral dienes, have been recently successfully developed. At the same time, numerous novel chiral HDA catalysts have been developed, attempting to control the stereochemical outcome of the cycloaddition. Thus, a number of novel chiral Lewis-acid catalysts based on chromium, copper, titanium, aluminium, rhodium and other metals have provided new opportunities for enantioselective cycloadditions, allowing the use of both activated and unactivated aldehydes as well as ketones. Furthermore, hydrogen bonding of a simple chiral alcohol or amine to a carbonyl group can also be exploited as a mode of activation for HDA chemistry and complements alternative asymmetric catalytic strategies.⁸ Indeed, a number of asymmetric catalytic HDA reactions have been recently performed in the presence of chiral organocatalysts. The first enantioselective catalytic HDA reaction of carbonyl compounds was attempted by Danishefsky et al., who employed a chiral lanthanide β -diketonato complex Eu(hfc)₃ as a Lewis acid to achieve 58% ee in the HDA reaction of benzaldehyde with 1-tert-butoxy-2-methyl-3-(trimethylsilyloxy)-1,3-butadiene.⁹ Ever since this work, the growing importance of asymmetric HDA reactions of carbonyl compounds can be attributed to the development of a number of very effective chiral catalysts, such as chiral Cr-salen complexes discovered by Jacobsen et al., in 1998, and widely employed for asymmetric HDA reactions of Danishefsky's diene with aldehydes to give the corresponding dihydropyranones in good enantioselectivities.¹⁰

In the area of mechanistic aspects of the HDA reaction, Danishefsky et al. have demonstrated that the product could be formed by two different modes of cyclisation, depending, essentially, on the Lewis-acid catalyst employed.^{9c,11} Indeed, two mechanistic pathways have generally been taken into account for the HDA reaction when Lewis-acid-catalysed reactions are considered. The intermediates of the two pathways were identified, and these two pathways were formulated as a Mukaiyama-aldol reaction followed by a cyclisation step, and a traditional Diels–Alder cycloaddition, as outlined in Scheme 2. In some cases, the Mukaiyama-aldol intermediate has been isolated and characterised and shown to undergo a ring-closure reaction, leading to the final HDA adduct. On the other hand, the traditional HDA-cycloaddition reaction pathway can also take different reaction courses, either as a concerted reaction with an unsymmetrical transition state or as a stepwise mechanism.¹² The different reaction paths are dependent, in particular, on the employed Lewis-acid properties, although only a very limited insight into the mechanism of catalytic enantioselective HDA reactions of carbonyl compounds is available. Indeed, compared to the numerous theoretical calculations on the normal Diels–Alder reaction, very few theoretical studies of HDA reactions of carbonyl compounds have been performed.¹² On the other hand, the uncatalysed reaction is likely to proceed in a concerted fashion with an unsymmetrical transition state.



Scheme 2. Two possible pathways for HDA reaction of carbonyl compounds.

This review updates the asymmetric HDA reactions of carbonyl compounds, such as aldehvdes and ketones, covering the literature from 2000 to 2008. Unlike its predecessor reported by Jorgensen in 2000 and dealing with catalytic cycloadditions involving both carbonyl compounds and imines,¹³ this review includes the asymmetric HDA reactions of carbonyl compounds based on the use of chiral auxiliaries in addition to chiral catalysts. It should be noted that the same author reported, in 2004, a personal microreview focussing on catalytic HDA reactions of ketones.¹⁴ On the other hand, another personal account, covering the asymmetric catalytic HDA reactions of Danishefsky's and Brassard's dienes with aldehydes, was reported, in 2007, by Feng et al.¹⁵ The application of the general asymmetric HDA reaction for synthesising carbohydrate derivatives and glycosidase inhibitors was reviewed, in 2004, by Osborn and Coisson.¹⁶ In a different context, Gouverneur and Reiter have reviewed the biocatalytic approaches to HDA adducts of carbonyl compounds,¹⁷ since Nature's repertoire of biosynthetic transformations has recently been recognised to include the Diels-Alder cycloaddition reaction. Indeed, evidence now exists that there are enzymes that mediate the Diels-Alder reaction and, in particular, the HDA reaction in secondary metabolic biosynthetic pathways. Today, there is unambiguous proof that natural enzymes are capable of catalysing HDA reactions and an increasing number of publications have reported elegant biomimetic approaches to HDA-type intermediates or products.¹⁸

The present review demonstrates that the most important achievements are the spectacular expansion of novel chiral catalysts, including the especially attractive chiral organocatalysts, which enable a large number of asymmetric HDA reactions to be performed under very mild conditions with generally 1–10 mol% of catalyst loadings. Indeed, a collection of new chiral Lewis-acid catalysts and organocatalysts have provided new opportunities for these enantioselective cycloadditions, allowing the use of both activated and unactivated aldehydes as well as ketones. In addition, a number of powerful asymmetric HDA reactions using chiral dienophiles or chiral dienes have been developed recently. This review is divided into four subsections, according to the different types of carbonyl compounds involved in the HDA reactions, namely unactivated aldehydes, activated aldehydes and activated ketones, as well as α , β -unsaturated ketones and α , β -unsaturated aldehydes for the inverse HDA reactions.

2. Reactions of unactivated aldehydes

Unactivated aldehydes have been the most employed dienophiles in asymmetric HDA reactions, providing a convenient access to a wide range of partly unsaturated chiral six-membered heterocycles.

2.1. Chiral auxiliaries

A series of chiral aldehydes have recently been involved in asymmetric HDA reactions in order to construct chiral 2,3dihydro-4-pyranone moieties, widely used in the preparation of specific carbohydrates, as well as in the total synthesis of natural products. As an example, Burke et al. have involved this methodology as the key step in the total synthesis of the northern hemisphere (C1–C16) of bryostatin 1, a potent anticancer agent.¹⁹ Thus, the B-ring of the expected product could be derived from a chiral pentylidene-protected glyceraldehyde and a siloxydiene via a Lewis-acid-catalysed HDA reaction, as depicted in Scheme 3. When the reaction was performed in the presence of BF₃·Et₂O, it gave a mixture of three diastereomers in 91% yield and in a 75:20:5 ratio, from which the major isomer was easily separated and further converted into the final expected product.



Scheme 3. Synthesis of bryostatin 1 northern hemisphere (C1-C16).

In 2006, Garcia Ruano et al. reported the asymmetric HDA reactions of (S)-2-[2-(*p*-tolvlsulfinyl)phenyllacetaldehyde with Danishefsky's and related dienes in the presence of Yb(OTf)₃.²⁰ These reactions took place in a completely stereoselective manner, mediated by a remote sulfinyl group (1,5-asymmetric induction), to afford the corresponding 2,3-dihydro-4H-pyran-4ones (Scheme 4). The results indicated that any decrease in the size of the silyloxy group had minimal influence on the stereoselectivity control in the reactions of 1,3-disubstituted dienes, but produced a large and negative effect for 1,2,3,4-tetrasubstituted dienes. In addition, it could be stated that the presence of a methyl group at C2 did not affect significantly the stereoselectivity of the reaction. The formation of the trans isomers as the major isomers in these reactions suggested that they were stepwise processes, involving a Mukaiyama-aldol condensation followed by intramolecular cyclisation of the resulting intermediates, which was corroborated by the isolation of these intermediates.



Scheme 4. HDA reactions of (*S*)-2-[2-(*p*-tolylsulfinyl)phenyl]acetaldehyde with Danishefsky-type dienes.

In 2007, a total synthesis of the potent antitumour agent, phorboxazole B, bearing 15 asymmetric centres, was developed by Burke et al. on the basis of a catalytic diastereoselective HDA reaction of a mannitol-derived aldehyde with Brassard's diene, as shown in Scheme $5.^{21}$



Scheme 5. Synthesis of phorboxazole B.

On the other hand, the potential of benzaldehyde–chromium tricarbonyl complexes as efficient chiral dienophiles in asymmetric HDA reactions was demonstrated, in 2001, by Baldoli et al.²² Therefore, the ZnCl₂-promoted cycloaddition of a series of enantiopure *ortho*-substituted benzaldehyde–Cr(CO)₃ complexes with Danishefsky's diene gave the corresponding 2-aryl-pyranones in good yields and complete enantiospecificity (Scheme 6). The scope of this new methodology was successfully extended to two other dienes, affording, in each case, the corresponding cycloadduct as a single diastereomer.



Scheme 6. HDA reactions of chiral benzaldehyde-chromium tricarbonyl complexes.

In some cases, both the diene and the dienophile involved in the asymmetric HDA cycloaddition are chiral. As an example, a double diastereoselective HDA reaction between a chiral aldehyde and a diene bearing an allylic chiral centre was developed by Palenzuela et al., in 2001, giving rise to only one cycloadduct when the reaction was carried out in the presence of BF₃·Et₂O at -15 °C, as shown in Scheme 7.²³ This chiral cycloadduct was further transformed into the corresponding linear ether, which was then converted into a tetrasubstituted oxocane.



Scheme 7. Double diastereoselective HDA reaction.

Several chiral dienes have been employed as chiral auxiliaries in asymmetric HDA reactions with achiral dienophiles. As an example, Stoodley et al. have developed the asymmetric cyloaddition of a 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl- β -D-glucopyranosyl diene with electron-deficient aldehydes promoted by Ln(fod)₃.²⁴ These reactions provided the corresponding glycals as a mixture of two diastereomers with high diastereoselectivities. In each case, a switch in selectivity was observed when the Lewis acid was changed from La(fod)₃ to Yb(fod)₃, as outlined in Scheme 8. According to these striking results, it was concluded that pericyclic-like pathways were not involved in these reactions, and that aldol-like pathways had occurred. It was proposed that Yb(fod)₃ formed a monodentate complex with the aldehyde, making the *Re*-face of the complexed aldehyde react with the less-hindered *Re*-face of the diene conformer **A** via an aldol-like pathway, e.g., **B**. In the case of La(fod)₃, a bidentate complex was required involving the aldehyde (complexed as before) and a coordination site on the sugar. As a consequence of this steering effect, the *Si*-face of the complexed aldehyde reacted with the *Si*-face of the diene conformer **B**, again via an aldol-like pathway, e.g., **C**. In both reactions, the aldol-like intermediates were postulated to collapse to the observed *endo* cycloadducts (Scheme 8).



Scheme 8. HDA reactions of 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-β-D-glucopyranosyl diene.

In 2005, Wessjohann et al. reported the use of chiral dienes bearing a chiral moiety at position 5 to control the stereoselectivity of the HDA cycloaddition of a range of α , β -unsaturated aldehydes.²⁵ In spite of the low reactivity of the α , β -unsaturated aldehydes, this methodology allowed a combinatorial library of highly substituted tetrahydropyrones to be synthesised with full chemo- and regio-selectivity combined with good-to-excellent diastereoselectivity, as shown in Scheme 9.



Scheme 9. HDA reaction of chiral dienes with α , β -unsaturated aldehydes.

In addition, Panunzio et al. have studied the asymmetric HDA reaction of aldehydes with a series of chiral azadienes, such as chiral 2-aza-3-trimethylsilyloxy-1,3-dienes, providing the corresponding perhydro-oxazin-4-ones in good yields and diastereoselectivities of up to 74% de (Scheme 10).²⁶ These heterocyclic cycloadducts have proved to be useful intermediates in the synthesis of enantiopure α -amino- β -hydroxy acids.



Scheme 10. HDA reaction of chiral 2-aza-3-trimethylsilyloxy-1,3-diene.

In the same area, these workers have obtained optimal results by using an azadiene bearing two chiral moieties, such as that depicted in Scheme 11. Therefore, under these conditions, the reaction took place with a complete control of the diastereoselectivity, since it afforded the corresponding tetrahydro-1,3oxazin-4-one as a single diastereomer.²⁷



Scheme 11. HDA reaction of 2-aza-3-trimethylsilyloxy-1,3-diene bearing two chiral moieties.

The preceding methodology was applied by the same authors to the syntheses of enantiomerically pure (*S*)- and (*R*)-fluoxetine, marketed as a racemate under the trade name $Prozac^{(B)}$, a potent and highly selective inhibitor of serotonin reuptake, as shown in Scheme 12.²⁸



Scheme 12. Syntheses of (S)- and (R)-fluoxetine.

In the same field, these workers reported, in 2006, the synthesis of chiral 5-phenylthio-1,3-oxazinan-4-ones through the HDA reaction of the corresponding chiral azadienes with a range of aldehydes.²⁹ As shown in Scheme 13, all the reactions were completely regioselective and no traces of azetidinones, arising from a 4π -conrotatory electrocyclisation, were detected. After desulfurisation, these cycloadducts were further converted into (*R*)- and (*S*)-fluoxetine, and (*R*)- and (*S*)-duloxetine.



Scheme 13. Syntheses of 5-phenylthio-1,3-oxazinan-4-ones and duloxetine.

2.2. Chiral catalysts

2.2.1. Chiral chromium catalysts

In recent years, many different types of chiral catalysts have been developed to promote the very challenging HDA reaction of unactivated aldehvdes with dienes. These various catalysts include chiral chromium, titanium, rhodium, aluminium, zirconium, cobalt, manganese, zinc, copper, magnesium and vtterbium complexes. In the last 10 years, chiral chromium complexes have been the most frequently applied Lewis-acid catalysts to the asymmetric HDA reaction of unactivated aldehydes and, in particular, the chiral salen-Cr(III) complexes discovered by Jacobsen et al. in 1998.¹⁰ and those reported in 1999.³⁰ The use of these catalysts for this type of reaction has allowed the total syntheses of a large number of natural biologically active products to be successfully developed.³¹ In 2000, Jacobsen et al. elaborated the total synthesis of FR901464, which was the most potent member of a new series of bacterially produced antitumour antibiotics.³² The key step for the synthesis was the highly enantio- and diastereoselective HDA cycloaddition between a hexadiene and a ynal catalysed by Jacobsen's tridentate Cr(III) catalyst, as depicted in Scheme 14.



Scheme 14. Synthesis of FR901464.

The scope of this methodology was extended by these workers to the total syntheses of two other important natural products, (+)-ambruticin,³³ an antifungal agent, and fostriecin (CI-920), an antitumour agent.³⁴ As shown in Scheme 15, the synthesis of fostriecin (CI-920) was based on the diastereo- and enantioselective HDA reaction of an alkoxybutadiene with an ynal catalysed by chlorinated Jacobsen's complex, while the synthesis of (+)-ambruticin involved two cycloadditions of this type. Thereby, this synthesis was initiated with an HDA reaction between a pentadiene and a β -alkoxy aldehyde, providing the corresponding dihydropyran in high enantioselectivity (Scheme 15). The carbon framework of the right-hand dihydropyran was accessed through a second asymmetric HDA reaction occurring between another pentadiene and a α -alkoxy aldehyde with high yield and enantioselectivity (>99% ee) (Scheme 15).

In 2000, De Brabander and Bhattacharjee reported a truncated version of apicularen A, which belongs to a growing class of macrocyclic salicylates with unique biological properties.³⁵ The key intermediate of the synthesis was a chiral dihydropyranone derived from the HDA cycloaddition of the polyfunctionalised aldehyde, depicted in Scheme 16, with Danishefsky's diene catalysed by



Scheme 15. Syntheses of (+)-ambruticin and fostriecin (CI-920).

Jacobsen's chiral catalyst. After treatment of this cycloadduct with TFA, the corresponding dihydropyranone was obtained in good yield and enantioselectivity and then converted into the expected macrocyclic portion of apicularen A.

Jacobsen's tridentate Cr(III) catalyst was also employed to catalyse the asymmetric HDA cycloaddition of a Danishefsky-type diene with a χ -alkoxy aldehyde, providing the corresponding cycloadduct in both high yield and enantiomeric purity, as shown in Scheme 17.³⁶ This product was further converted into the A–D-ring system of the marine ladder toxin, gambierol, and then into gambierol, itself.

In 2001, Paterson et al. reported the total synthesis of the potent microtubule-stabilising anticancer agent, (–)-laulimalide, using Jacobsen's HDA methodology for the enantioselective construction of the side-chain dihydropyran (Scheme 18).³⁷ The cycloadduct obtained in good yield and with up to 95% ee was further converted into (–)-laulimalide, which was finally obtained in 27 steps and 2.9% overall yield. In 2003, the same workers applied a similar methodology to develop the total synthesis of (+)-leucascandrolide A, a cytotoxic 18-membered macrolide.³⁸ Indeed, the key feature of



Scheme 16. Synthesis of side-chain truncated apicularen A.



Scheme 17. Synthesis of gambierol.

the sequence included Jacobsen's asymmetric HDA reaction between an aldehyde and a 2-siloxydiene, occurring with high yield, and diastereo- and enantioselectivity, as shown in Scheme 18.

A more potent and structurally simplified analogue of laulimalide, 11-desmethyllaulimalide, was synthesised by Wender et al., in 2006, offering a cost- and step-economical advantage over the synthesis of laulimalide.³⁹ The key optically active allylsilane of the synthesis was prepared through Jacobsen's HDA cycloaddition of a readily available aldehyde with Danishefsky's diene, yielding the corresponding pyranone in high yield and enantioselectivity (Scheme 19).

In 2005, a catalytic enantioselective HDA approach to the C20–C32 segment of the phorboxazoles was reported by Burke et al.⁴⁰ A Danishefsky diene reacted with a β -alkoxy aldehyde to give the corresponding cycloadduct bearing four stereogenic centres in high



Scheme 18. Syntheses of (-)-laulimalide and (+)-leucascandrolide A.

yield and enantioselectivity. This product was further converted in five steps into the C20–C32 phorboxazole subunit (Scheme 20).

Another application of Jacobsen's methodology was the development, in 2006, of an enantioselective total synthesis of (–)-dactylolide, an antitumour agent, achieved in 21 steps.⁴¹ The intermediate tetrahydropyran was formed in high yield and enantioselectivity (\leq 99% ee) (Scheme 21). The same catalyst was also



Scheme 19. Synthesis of 11-desmethyllaulimalide.



Scheme 20. Synthesis of C20-C32 phorboxazole subunit.

successfully applied by Ghosh and Gong, in 2007, to the total synthesis of (-)-lasonolide A, a macrolide antitumour agent, as shown in Scheme 21.⁴²



Scheme 21. Syntheses of (-)-dactylolide and (-)-lasonolide A.

Other extremely potent natural antitumour agents, such as anguinomycin C,⁴³ and also the C11–C23 segment of (–)-dictyostatin,⁴⁴ could be synthesised by employing Jacobsen's asymmetric HDA reactions as the key steps. Thereby, the total synthesis of anguinomycin C began with the preparation of a chiral dihydropyran by a cycloaddition between methoxybutadiene and a protected propargylic aldehyde in high yield and enantioselectivity of up to 96% ee (Scheme 22). In the case of the synthesis of the C11–C23 segment of (–)-dictyostatin, a double enantioselective HDA reaction constituted the key step of the synthesis, providing the corresponding enantiomerically pure diketone in good yield (Scheme 22).

In the course of developing total syntheses of phorboxazoles A and B, the scope of Jacobsen's HDA methodology was examined by Paterson and Luckhurst in more complex situations. In 2003, these authors demonstrated that this methodology could be applied with some success to the coupling of complex highly functionalised substrates, in the context of a convergent approach to assemble the phorboxazole ring system (Scheme 23).⁴⁵ A possible explanation for this modest result (32% yield, 20% de) was a competitive ligation between the oxazole nitrogen atom of the



Scheme 22. Syntheses of anguinomycin C and (-)-dictyostatin C11-C23 segment.



Scheme 23. Synthesis of phorboxazole A C4-C32 segment.

aldehyde and the salen ligand heteroatoms for the Cr(III) atom of the catalyst. A study of the HDA reactions between 2-silyloxydienes and a variety of oxazole-containing aldehydes demonstrated, however, that diastereoselectivities of up to 94% de could be obtained for the corresponding products.⁴⁶

In addition, a few Jacobsen catalyst-controlled doubly diastereoselective HDA reactions have been studied, involving both a chiral aldehyde and a Jacobsen's catalyst. As an example, this type of reaction was employed by Wender et al., in 2002, in order to develop



with (S,R)-cat: $R^1 = Me$, $R^2 = OTBS$: 97% de = 88% ee > 99% with (*R*,S)-cat: $R^1 = CH_2OPMB$, $R^2 = Me$: 90% de = 84% ee > 99% $R^1 = Ph$, $R^2 = OTBS$: 58% de = 56% ee = 99%



Scheme 24. Jacobsen catalyst-controlled HDA reactions of chiral aldehydes.

a total synthesis of (-)-laulimalide in 25 steps and in 3.5% overall yield.⁴⁷ The key step involved a Jacobsen catalyst-controlled doubly diastereoselective HDA reaction between Danishefsky's diene and a chiral aldehyde derived from (R)-citronellic acid, which produced the corresponding chiral pyranone in 87% yield and 82% de. In the same context, these authors have developed a practical synthesis of a novel and highly potent analogue of the anticancer agent, bryostatin.⁴⁸ In this case, the key HDA reaction involved a diastereomerically enriched aldehyde derived from (-)-menthone (24% de), which gave, through a cycloaddition with Danishefsky's diene in the presence of Jacobsen's catalyst, 88% yield of the expected pyranone in high diastereoselectivity (94% de). In 2002, Jacobsen and Joly studied the stereoselectivity of the HDA reaction between Danishefsky's diene and a variety of chiral aldehydes, since this strategy would provide selective access to stereochemically elaborated dihydropyranone derivatives, which were not readily accessible using simple enantioselective reactions of achiral substrates.⁴⁹ As shown in Scheme 24. excellent levels of both diastereo- and enantioselectivity were obtained, combined with high yields, for a series of chiral aldehydes in the presence of Jacobsen's catalyst.

A series of other chiral chromium complexes have been involved in asymmetric HDA reactions,⁵⁰ such as the (salen)Cr(III)Cl complex depicted in Scheme 25, which was developed, in 1998, by Jacobsen



R = TBS: 84% de = 92% ee (*cis*) = 87% ee (*trans*) = 78% R = TBDPS: 55% de = 94% ee (*cis*) = 56% ee (*trans*) = 32% R = SiPh₂: 49% de = 92% ee (*cis*) = 52% ee (*trans*) = 31%



Scheme 25. High-pressure HDA reaction of O-protected glycolaldehydes catalysed by (salen)Cr(III)Cl complex.



Scheme 26. HDA reactions of aldehydes catalysed by cationic (salen)Cr(III) complexes and synthesis of cryptofolione.

et al.¹⁰ This complex was applied by Jurczak et al. to catalyse the enantioselective high-pressure HDA reaction of 1-methoxybuta-1,3-diene with variously *O*-protected glycolaldehydes.⁵¹ The best results were obtained with *tert*-butyldimethylsilyloxyacetaldehyde, affording the corresponding cycloadduct in good yield, and diastereo- and enantioselectivity of up to 92% de and 87% ee, respectively (Scheme 25).

In 2001, Katsuki et al. reported the use of other chiral cationic (salen)Cr(III) complexes for the HDA reaction of a large variety of aldehydes with Danishefsky's diene, providing the corresponding cycloadducts in high yield and enantioselectivity of up to 97% ee, as shown in Scheme 26.⁵² It is worthwhile noting that, in all the reactions examined, (*R*,*S*)- and (*R*,*R*)complexes showed an opposite sense of enantioselectivity, suggesting that the ligand conformation of the complexes, which was dictated by the chirality of the ethylenediamine unit, played an important role in the asymmetric induction by the complexes. In 2005, this methodology was applied to the total synthesis of cryptofolione by the same authors, as depicted in Scheme 26.⁵³

On the other hand, Berkessel et al. demonstrated, in 2006, that chiral chromium(III) porphyrins were efficient and highly enantioselective catalysts for the HDA reaction of aliphatic, aromatic and heteroaromatic aldehydes with dienes of varying electron density.⁵⁴ In a number of cases, the corresponding cycloadducts were obtained with enantioselectivities of more than 90% ee, as shown in Scheme 27. It was particularly noteworthy that coordinating aldehydes, such as pyridine-2-carbaldehyde, could be reacted without any sign of catalyst inactivation.



Scheme 27. HDA reaction of aldehydes catalysed by Cr(III) porphyrins.

Another new type of chiral chromium–salen complex, bearing DIANANE (*endo,endo-2*,5-diaminonorbornane) as a chiral backbone, was synthesised by Berkessel and Vogl, in 2006, and then successfully applied to similar HDA reactions to those described above.⁵⁵ These reactions afforded the corresponding cycloadducts in high yields and enantioselectivities of up to 96% ee, as shown in Scheme 28.



Scheme 28. HDA reaction of aldehydes catalysed by DIANANE-Cr(III) salen complex.

The preparation and application of polymer-supported reagents and catalysts is a rapidly growing field in modern synthetic chemistry.⁵⁶ In the area of asymmetric HDA reactions, however, future research will have to extend the methods available for performing these reactions on a solid support,⁵⁷ since this area remains relatively understudied.⁵⁸ In 2006, Waldmann et al. reported the first enantioselective version of the HDA cycloaddition employing a polymer-bound aldehyde.⁵⁹ Indeed, a series of aliphatic aldehydes were synthesised on a solid support and then subjected to enantioselective HDA reactions with Danishefsky's diene in the presence of Jacobsen's catalyst or Katsuki's catalyst, as depicted in Scheme 29. The latter catalyst allowed the best yields of up to 40% and enantioselectivities of up to 99% ee to be obtained for the formed tetrahydropyrans after cleavage from the solid support (Scheme 29).

In 2001, Seebach et al. demonstrated that salen ligands could be immobilised on polystyrene by copolymerisation of suitable crosslinking styryl derivatives with styrene.⁶⁰ In the course of this study, it was shown that these chiral polymer-bound Cr–salens presented a high catalytic activity in the HDA reaction of Danishefsky's diene with aldehydes, such as benzaldehyde,





Scheme 29. HDA reactions of polymer-bound aldehydes.

caproaldehyde and cyclohexane carboxaldehyde, affording the corresponding cycloadducts with selectivities similar to those obtained under homogeneous conditions (up to 70% ee). In 2002, better enantioselectivities of up to 84% ee were reported by the same group by employing chiral Cr–salen complexes immobilised on silica gel by radical grafting.⁶¹ More recently, Schulz et al. have reported the successful use of new electropolymerised chiral salen– chromium complexes as heterogeneous catalysts for the HDA reaction of several aldehydes with Danishefsky's diene (Scheme 30).⁶² This



Scheme 30. Electropolymerised Cr-salen complexes for HDA reactions.

novel immobilisation procedure for the chiral salen-based chromium catalysts occurred by electropolymerisation of the corresponding monomeric thiophene complexes. These insoluble catalysts were re-used up to six times, affording the expected cycloadducts with unchanged enantioselectivity of up to 88% ee along with the recycling procedure.

2.2.2. Chiral titanium catalysts

On the other hand, a number of chiral titanium catalysts have been successfully employed as chiral Lewis acids to catalyse HDA reactions. As an example, TADDOL-titanium complexes have been used to catalyse this type of reaction. Thereby, Jiang et al. have studied the HDA reaction of benzaldehyde with Danishefsky's diene in the presence of Ti(Oi-Pr)₄ and TADDOL, which provided the corresponding cycloadduct in low yield (10%) and enantioselectivity (6% ee).⁶³ In the course of developing a novel synthesis of the spongistatin AB spiroketal, Crimmins and Smith have developed an HDA reaction of a functionalised chiral aldehyde with a silyl dienolate, giving rise, in the presence of TADDOL and Ti(Oi-Pr)₂Cl₂, to the corresponding dioxinone.⁶⁴ It was shown that the use of (S,S)-TADDOL delivered an 83:17 mixture favouring the *anti* diastereomer, whereas the use of (*R*,*R*)-TADDOL gave a 68:32 preference for the syn diastereomer, as depicted in Scheme 31.



with (R,R)-TADDOL: 60% syn:anti = 68:32

Scheme 31. HDA reactions of chiral aldehyde catalysed by TADDOL-titanium complexes.

Another asymmetric HDA reaction, involving both a chiral aldehyde and a chiral titanium catalyst, constituted the key step of a synthesis of the C1-C14 fragment of laulimalide reported, in 2001, by Davidson and Nadolski.⁶⁵ In spite of the usually observed high efficiency of a chiral ligand such as BINOL, the cycloaddition of a chiral aldehvde derived from L-(-)-citronellal with a Danishefsky-type diene vielded the corresponding dihydropyranone in 53% yield with a disappointing diastereoselectivity of 67% de. A number of highly enantioselective HDA reactions using BINOL or its derivatives as ligands of titanium have, however, been successfully reported in the last 8 years. As an example, Le Blanc et al. reported, in 2000, the HDA reaction of polyfluoroalkylaldehydes with Danishefsky's diene performed in the presence of a chiral Lewis acid prepared from BINOL and Ti (Oi-Pr)₄, leading to the corresponding polyfluoroalkyl dihydropyrenones in moderate-to-good yields (<60%) and high enantioselectivities of 92–99% ee.⁶⁶ Similar conditions have been extensively applied by Feng et al. to prepare a wide variety of optically active 2,6-67 and 2,5-disubstituted dihydropyrones,68 with generally high yields (up to 99%) and high enantioselectivities of up to 99% ee, as shown in Scheme 32. The scope of this methodology was extended to the synthesis of the important natural product, (+)-hepialone, in one step.



Scheme 32. HDA reactions catalysed by BINOL-titanium complex.

In 2008, the same workers extended the scope of this methodology to the enantioselective HDA reaction of Brassard's diene with a series of aliphatic aldehydes.⁶⁹ In this case, the catalyst was generated from (*R*)-BINOL, $Ti(Oi-Pr)_4$ and 4-picolyl chloride hydrochloride, allowing the corresponding cycloadducts to be formed in moderate-to-good yields and with high enantioselectivities of up to 88% ee (Scheme 33). In addition, this procedure could be applied to the one-step syntheses of two natural products, (+)-kavain and (+)-dihydrokavain.



Scheme 33. HDA reactions of Brassard's diene catalysed by BINOL-titanium complex.

A BINOL-titanium complex has been successfully used by Wang et al. to catalyse the HDA reactions of various aldehydes with poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG)-bound Danishefsky's diene.⁷⁰ The excellent results obtained through this soluble polymer-supported methodology are summarised in Scheme 34.





In addition, the HDA reactions of aldehydes with dienes have been performed with high success in the presence of several BINOL derivatives. As a very recent and highly efficient example, Yu et al. reported, in 2008, that the Ti(IV) catalyst derived from a 3-monosubstituted (*R*)-BINOL could exhibit an enhanced catalytic activity for the HDA reaction of both aromatic and aliphatic aldehydes with the diene depicted in Scheme 35.⁷¹ Excellent yields and enantioselectivities were obtained for almost all of the tested substrates, as shown in Scheme 35. When the corresponding 3,3'-bisubstituted BINOL-titanium complex was used as a catalyst for similar reactions, moderate yields (up to 72%) and lower enantioselectivities (up to 80% ee) were observed, in 2008, by the same group.⁷²



Scheme 35. HDA reactions catalysed by 3-substituted BINOL-titanium complex.

In 2002, a novel chiral bis-titanium(IV) catalyst derived from (*S*)-BINOL was successfully used for the enantioselective HDA reactions of a series of aldehydes with Danishefsky's diene, which allowed fairly high enantioselectivities combined with good yields to be obtained for the corresponding cycloadducts, as shown in Scheme $36.^{73}$



Scheme 36. HDA reactions catalysed by BINOL-derived bis-titanium catalyst.

C

5,5',6,6',7,7',8,8'-Octahydro-1,1'-bi-2-naphthol (H₈-BINOL) is a new atropisomeric diol ligand, which possesses a unique structure, compared to conventional BINOL. Similar reactions to those depicted above were also performed by Jiang et al., in 2000, by using a chiral H₈-BINOL-Ti(IV) catalyst, affording the corresponding dihydropyrones in high yields (up to 92%) and with high levels of enantioselectivity with wide substrate generality (up to 99% ee).^{63,74} In the same area, Ding et al. have developed these reactions in solvent-free conditions and in the presence of the corresponding H₄-BINOL-Ti(IV) catalyst.⁷⁵ This catalytic system provided an attractive protocol to various chiral dihydropyrones obtained in quantitative vield and enantioselectivity of 99% ee in almost all substrates. Moreover, an exceptionally low catalyst loading of 0.1-0.005 mol % was sufficient to achieve a high yield and optical purity of the products. Very recently, Li et al. have reported the synthesis of a novel chiral H'4-NOBIN ligand through partial hydrogenation of 2-amino-2'-hydroxy-1,1'-binaphthyl (NOBIN).⁷⁶ This ligand was further evaluated in the enantioselective Ti-catalysed HDA reaction of Danishefsky's diene with aldehydes, providing the corresponding cycloadducts in moderate-to-high yields (up to 99%) and enantioselectivities of up to 84% ee. In addition, Ding et al. have devised a new type of dendritic titanium catalyst by the molecular assembly of chiral dendritic Schiff-base ligands, titanium(IV) ions and a chiral activator such as (*S*)-naproxen.⁷⁷ The catalytic system with dendritic NOBIN-derived Schiff-base ligands was applied to the Ti-catalysed HDA reaction of Danishefsky's diene with aldehydes, giving excellent enantioselectivities of up to 97% ee combined with very high catalytic activities (>99% yields).

Although BINOL and its derivatives are some of the most widely used ligands, a few other chiral ligands have been investigated as the ligands of titanium complexes in the HDA reaction of aldehydes with dienes. As an example, a new type of axially dissymmetric ligand. (R)-bis{(R)-2.2.2-trifluorohydroxyethyl}biphenyl. was found to function as a ligand for the HDA reaction of benzaldehyde with Danishefsky's diene, providing the corresponding cycloadduct in moderate yield (20%) and enantioselectivity (54% ee) in the presence of Ti(Oi-Pr)4.78 In addition, Feng et al. have developed a highly enantioselective HDA reaction of Brassard's diene with aldehydes in the presence of Ti(IV) tridentate Schiffbase complexes.⁷⁹ Indeed, the corresponding chiral products were formed under mild conditions with high enantioselectivities of up to 99% ee, as shown in Scheme 37. Mechanistic studies indicated that the reaction pathway was influenced by the reaction temperature. Thus, at higher temperatures (0 °C), the reaction was



Scheme 37. HDA reactions catalysed by Ti(IV) tridentate Schiff-base complex.

mostly a Diels–Alder process, whereas at lower temperatures (-78 °C), it was a Mukaiyama-aldol process.

2.2.3. Chiral rhodium catalysts

Over the last decade, the exceptional power of chiral dirhodium(II) carboxylate and carboxamidate catalysts has been demonstrated in a diverse array of enantioselective reactions.⁸⁰ In particular, highly enantioselective HDA reactions of aromatic aldehydes with Danishefsky's diene and its derivatives have been performed by Doyle et al., using chiral dirhodium(II) carboxamidates with uncommonly high turnover numbers of up to 10,000 and catalyst loadings as low as 0.01 mol %. In the case of using Danishefsky's diene, the best catalyst was shown to be Rh₂(4*S*-MPPIM)₄, displaying high levels of enantioselectivity, as summarised in Scheme 38.⁸¹ In 2008, the same group used the corresponding cationic chiral dirhodium carboxamidates, such as [Rh₂(5*S*-MEPY)₄]BF₄, as catalysts to promote similar reactions, which allowed enantioselectivities of up to 93% ee to be obtained in place of 73% ee when using the corresponding noncationic complex Rh₂(5*S*-MEPY)₄ (Scheme 38).⁸²



Scheme 38. Rh₂(4S-MPPIM)₄- and [Rh₂(5S-MEPY)₄]BF₄-catalysed HDA reactions.

The scope of the preceding methodology was extended to the use of methyl and dimethyl-substituted Danishefsky's dienes, giving rise to the corresponding *cis* dihydropyrans.^{81c,83} For this type

Scheme 41.86

of diene, a chiral dirhodium(II) carboxamidate, Rh₂(4S-MEOX)₄, provided the best yields and enantioselectivities, as depicted in Scheme 39.



Scheme 39. Rh₂(4S-MEOX)₄-catalysed HDA reactions.

In the preceding study, it was shown that electron-withdrawing *p*-nitrobenzaldehyde reacted more than 700-fold faster than electron-donating *p*-anisaldehyde. In order to propose a more general and highly efficient catalyst for these HDA reactions, Hashimoto et al. have reported the involvement of $Rh_2(S-BPTPI)_4$, a new dirhodium(II) carboxamidate complex, incorporating (*S*)-3-(benzene-fused-phthalimido)-2-piperidinonate as a chiral bridging ligand.⁸⁴ As shown in Scheme 40, this novel catalyst has proved to be an exceptionally effective and general Lewis-acid catalyst for *endo* and enantioselective HDA reactions of various aldehydes with Danishefsky-type dienes, as well as with monooxygenated dienes, in which up to 99% ee and turnover numbers as high as 48,000 have been achieved.



 $\begin{array}{l} \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{H}, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{M}\mathsf{e}, \, \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{OMe}, \, \mathsf{R}^4 = \mathsf{MOMOCH}_2 : 86\% \; \mathsf{ee} = 93\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{Me}, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{H}, \, \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{OMe}, \, \mathsf{R}^4 = p \cdot \mathsf{NO}_2\mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_4 : 97\% \; \mathsf{ee} = 96\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{Me}, \, \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{OMe}, \, \mathsf{R}^4 = p \cdot \mathsf{NO}_2\mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_4 : 92\% \; \mathsf{ee} = 97\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{H}, \, \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{Me}, \, \mathsf{R}^4 = \mathsf{PhC} = \mathsf{C} : 87\% \; \mathsf{ee} = 99\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{Me}, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{H}, \, \mathsf{R}^4 = \mathsf{PhC} = \mathsf{C} : 81\% \; \mathsf{ee} = 97\% \\ \end{array}$



Scheme 40. Rh₂(S-BPTPI)₄-catalysed HDA reactions.

In 2007, this highly efficient methodology was exploited for the total syntheses of three natural products, the antitumour agent, calyxin L_s^{85} the antibiotic agent, (–)-centrolobine, and the



antileishmanial agent, (-)-de-O-methylcentrolobine, as depicted in

Scheme 41. Syntheses of calyxin L, (-)-centrolobine and (-)-de-O-methylcentrolobine.

2.2.4. Other chiral metal catalysts

Since 2000, only a few examples of Cu-catalysed asymmetric HDA reactions of aldehydes have been described, such as that developed by Feng et al.⁸⁷ These reactions, involving a Brassard-type diene, were catalysed by a new chiral Cu(II) tridentate Schiffbase complex, affording the corresponding 5-methyl-containing α , β -unsaturated δ -lactone derivatives in moderate yields, high enantioselectivities of up to 99% ee and excellent diastereo-selectivities of up to 99% de, as shown in Scheme 42.



Scheme 42. HDA reactions catalysed by Cu(II)-tridentate Schiff base complex.

In 2007, another Cu-catalysed HDA reaction of aldehydes was reported by Jorgensen et al., using chiral bisoxazoline ligands.⁸⁸ The reactions were performed between *N*-oxy-pyridine-2-carbalde-hydes and Danishefsky's diene, providing the corresponding chiral heterocycles in moderate yields and good enantioselectivities of up to 93% ee (Scheme 43).



Scheme 43. Cu(II)-catalysed HDA reactions of *N*-oxy-pyridine-2-carbaldehydes.

The use of chiral zinc catalysts for the enantioselective HDA reaction has generally been hardly explored. In this area, the chiral zinc catalyst prepared from (R)-3,3'-Br₂-BINOL and ZnEt₂ has been demonstrated by Ding et al. to be highly efficient and enantioselective for the HDA reaction of Danishefsky's diene with aldehydes. affording the corresponding cycloadducts in excellent yields (34-99%) and enantioselectivities of up to 98% ee (58–98%).⁸⁹ In this study, a new type of chiral zinc catalyst, containing an (R)-3,3'-Br₂-BINOL ligand and a diimine activator (depicted in Scheme 44), has also been found to be an excellent catalyst for the HDA reaction. Moreover, the application, by the same workers, of this type of catalyst was extended to the diethylzinc addition to benzaldehyde, affording the corresponding secondary alcohol with up to 95% ee. On the basis of these observations, the integration of the enantioselective HDA and the diethylzinc addition reactions has been achieved in one pot with the promotion of a single chiral zinc catalyst in a sequential manner. Indeed, these authors have achieved the integration of two asymmetric reactions in one pot with the promotion utilising a single catalyst for the HDA reaction of Danishefsky's diene and the diethylzinc addition to aldehydes (Scheme 44).⁹⁰

In 2000, Yamada et al. reported the synthesis of novel optically active Co(III) complexes and investigated these catalysts for the



para: 92% ee = 97% de = 95% *meta:* 82% ee = 96% de = 95%

Scheme 44. Asymmetric domino HDA/diethylzinc addition reactions.

enantioselective HDA reactions of aliphatic and aromatic aldehydes with Danishefsky's diene.⁹¹ In the presence of a cationic Co(III) triflate complex derived from chiral 1,2-bis(3,5-dimethylphenyl)-1,2-ethylenediamine, the reaction proceeded in high yield and enantioselectivity of up to 94% ee (Scheme 45).



Scheme 45. Co(III)-catalysed HDA reactions.

In the same context, Jurczak et al. have studied the HDA reactions of 1-methoxybuta-1,3-diene with *O*-protected glycolaldehydes under high pressure and in the presence of chiral (salen)Co(II) complexes, which yielded the corresponding cycloadducts in moderate yields and enantioselectivities of up to 93% ee (Scheme 46).⁵¹





Scheme 46. Co(II)-catalysed HDA reactions.

Chiral cationic (salen)Mn(III) complexes have also served as catalysts for the HDA reaction of Danishefsky's diene with aldehydes, achieving, in some cases, high enantioselectivity (up to 96% ee), as shown in Scheme 47.^{52a}

In 2000, Jorgensen et al. studied the Al-catalysed HDA reaction of benzaldehyde with Danishefsky's diene, performed in the presence of various chiral ligands derived from BINOL.⁹² With a catalyst generated from (R)-3,3'-bis(2,5-dihexyloxyphenyl)-BINOL and AlMe₃, the corresponding cycloadduct was obtained with 97% yield and 99% ee. This study demonstrated that hypercoordination of the chiral ligand to the aluminium Lewis-acid centre was of importance for the reaction. Many chiral catalysts, in particular chiral Lewis acids, are often unstable in air or in the presence of water. Consequently, many catalysts are often prepared in situ in an appropriate



Scheme 47. Mn(III)-catalysed HDA reactions.

solvent immediately before use, and cannot be stored for extended periods. In this context, Kobayashi et al. have developed air-stable, storable and highly efficient chiral zirconium Lewis acids to promote asymmetric HDA reactions.⁹³ These new catalysts were prepared from $Zr(Ot-Bu)_4$ and (R)-3,3'-diiodobinaphthol, or its derivatives, propanol and a small amount of water. The reaction of various aldehydes with Danishefsky's dienes proceeded smoothly to afford the corresponding *trans* pyranones in high yields and with high diastereo- and enantioselectivity, as depicted in Scheme 48. This methodology has been applied to the synthesis of important natural products such as (+)-prelactone C and (+)-9-deoxygoniopypyrone.^{93b}





Scheme 48. Zr(IV)-catalysed HDA reactions.

Recent intensive studies on chiral rare-earth complexes as catalysts are frequently reporting various successful examples of highly efficient asymmetric reactions.⁹⁴ As an example, Inanaga et al. have synthesised novel rare-earth metal complexes with chiral phosphate ligands, which acted as isolable and storable Lewis-acid catalysts for the asymmetric HDA reaction of aldehydes with Danishefsky's diene under homogeneous conditions.⁹⁵ Thereby, the vtterbium complex of (R)-1.1'-binaphthyl-2.2'-divlphosphate ((R)-BNP) effectively promoted these reactions in the presence of 2,6-lutidine as an additive, providing the corresponding cycloadducts in high yields and enantioselectivities of up to 93% ee (Scheme 49). In addition, the use of another chiral catalyst of the same type, such as $Y[(R)-H_8-BNP]_3$, allowed up to 99% ee and 81% yield to be obtained for the cycloaddition occurring between benzaldehyde and Danishefsky's diene.^{95c} The scope of the preceding methodology was extended by the same group to the use of cerium, another rare-earth metal. Indeed, the corresponding novel chiral cerium complex has been found to be an excellent storable catalyst for similar reactions, since high yields and enantioselectivities (up to 94% ee) were observed, as shown in Scheme 49.96



Scheme 49. Yb(III)- and Ce(III)-catalysed HDA reactions.

In spite of In(III) being a strong activator of carbonyl compounds, In(III) complexes have rarely been employed as chiral catalysts. In this context, Feng et al. developed, in 2008, a novel and efficient chiral catalyst system based on N,N'-dioxide/In(OTf)₃ complexes and its application in the enantioselective HDA reaction.⁹⁷ As shown in Scheme 50, the reaction of an extremely broad range of aldehydes with a Danishefsky's diene allowed the corresponding chiral pyranones to be produced in good yields and with up to 99% ee.

In 2008, Peters and Tiseni demonstrated that a complex formed in situ from Er(OTf)₃ and a simple commercially available norephedrine ligand promoted an unprecedented HDA reaction of α,β -unsaturated acid chlorides with a broad range of aromatic and heteroaromatic aldehvdes.⁹⁸ The corresponding δ -lactone building blocks were obtained with generally excellent enantioselectivity, as shown in Scheme 51. In order to explain these results, the authors proposed the catalytic cycle depicted in Scheme 51. They assumed that the ligand and both substrates all bound to the same centre, since Er(III) is known to prefer high coordination numbers, typically 7–10. The results were in accordance with a mechanism in which the reversibly binding Lewis-basic site formed a nucleophilic dienolate, which strongly bound to the metal ion, resulting in a highly organised transition state for a vinylogous aldol addition reaction. The turnover was achieved by an intramolecular acylation.



Scheme 50. In(III)-catalysed HDA reaction.

In addition, the first asymmetric Mg-catalysed HDA reactions of aldehydes have been very recently reported by Ding et al.⁹⁹ Among a collection of BINOL and TADDOL derivatives, a chiral BINOL-derived ligand, depicted in Scheme 52, was selected as the most efficient to give the best enantioselectivities of up to 99% ee for the



Scheme 51. Er(III)-catalysed HDA reactions.



Scheme 52. Mg(II)-catalysed HDA reactions.

cycloadducts arising from the reactions of a variety of aldehydes with Danishefsky's diene (Scheme 52).

2.2.5. Chiral organocatalysts

For a long time, it was not known that organocatalysts could be used to catalyse the Diels–Alder reactions and, in particular, basecatalysed Diels–Alder reactions were regarded as uncommon. In recent years, however, several different organocatalysts have been developed.¹⁰⁰ Indeed, a number of organocatalytic enantioselective HDA reactions have recently been developed, and these have become a topic of interest in asymmetric organocatalysis. Among these reactions, one of the most exciting developments was the 1naphthyl-TADDOL-promoted reaction of 1-amino-3-siloxybutadiene with aldehydes, which was reported, in 2003, by Rawal et al.⁸ Thus, this cycloaddition proceeded smoothly to furnish the cycloadducts highly enantioselectively after treatment with AcCl, as depicted in Scheme 53.



Scheme 53. Organocatalytic HDA reactions of aminosiloxydiene.

In 2004, the same TADDOL derivative was employed by Ding et al. to induce the HDA reactions of aldehydes with Brassard's diene, affording the corresponding δ -lactone derivatives highly enantioselectively (Scheme 54).¹⁰¹ The usefulness of this methodology was demonstrated in the total synthesis of the natural product, (+)-dihydrokawain. In order to explain the asymmetric induction of the reaction, these workers have proposed a possible mechanism, as outlined in Scheme 54. In this (*S*,*S*)-catalytic system, the steric hindrance of the naphthyl moiety shielded the *Si*-face of the aldehyde, while the *Re*-face was available to accept the attacking diene, to give the product with the *R* configuration, as expected. It was evident that the strength of the intermolecular hydrogen bonding between the catalyst and the substrate, the greater steric hindrance of the 1-naphthyl group and the π - π interaction between the naphthyl ring and the carbonyl group of the substrate all played important roles in the control of the enantio-selectivity of the catalytic reactions.



Scheme 54. Organocatalytic HDA reactions of Brassard's diene.

Re

In the same context, Ding et al. have investigated enantioselective HDA reactions of Danishefsky's diene and its analogues with various aldehydes in the presence of a range of TADDOL derivatives.¹⁰² An interesting phenomenon, namely that naphtha-1-yl-TADDOL exhibited a remarkably superior performance, compared to that of its analogues, such as simple phenyl-TADDOL or naphtha-2-yl-TADDOL, was found in several HDA reactions in terms of both activity and enantioselectivity. Indeed, the $\alpha \alpha'$ -arvl substituents in the TADDOL molecules were found to exert a significant impact on both the activity and the enantioselectivity of the catalysis. Thus, the use of naphtha-1-yl-TADDOL as the organocatalyst allowed high enantioselectivities of up to 98% ee to be obtained, as shown in Scheme 55. In addition, the mechanism of the reaction was studied theoretically, using the ONIOM (B3LYP/6-31G*:PM3) method with trans-1,3-dimethoxy-1,3-butadiene as the model for Danishefsky's diene, indicating that the reaction evolved via a concerted mechanism through an asynchronous and zwitterionic transition structure, as depicted in Scheme 54. The carbonyl group of the aldehyde was activated by forming an intermolecular hydrogen bond with one of the hydroxy groups of TADDOL. Meanwhile, the intramolecular hydrogen bond between the two hydroxyl groups in TADDOL was found to facilitate the intermolecular hydrogen bonding with the aldehyde. The involvement of highly polarised transition states was confirmed by a computational study of the diol-catalysed HDA reactions of Rawal-type dienes reported, in 2007, by Houk et al.¹⁰³ It was shown that the 1,4-butanediol model systems for catalysis by TADDOLs were consistent with a cooperative hydrogen-bonding arrangement.



Scheme 55. Organocatalytic HDA reactions of Danishefsky's diene and analogues.

In the course of investigating the viability of the enantioselective vinylogous aldol reaction of Chan's diene in the presence of naphtha-1-yl-TADDOL as organocatalyst, Villano et al. have found that the involvement of electron-poor aromatic aldehydes in this reaction enhanced the reactivity and enabled a competing asymmetric HDA reaction to take place in comparable (or higher) yields and enantioselectivities under solvent-free conditions (Scheme 56).¹⁰⁴



Scheme 56. Organocatalytic HDA reactions of Chan's diene.

Some recent publications have outlined the development of a novel computational procedure, reverse docking, which has proved to be a useful tool for studying the enantioselectivity of several organocatalysed reactions.¹⁰⁵ In this procedure, a large flexible organocatalyst is docked around rigid-transition-state models of catalyst-free reactions generated by ab initio transitionstate optimisation calculations. The resulting reverse-docking positions represent simplified models for the transition states of the organocatalysed HDA reaction. Therefore, Deslongchamps et al. described, in 2007, the reverse docking of a TADDOL catalyst to rigid-state models of catalyst-free reactions (TS-models) for an asymmetric HDA reaction.¹⁰⁶ In previous reports, the reverse docking of similar organocatalysts to rigid TS-models has shown promise for generating TS-models for the catalysed reaction, and revealed clear energetic trends favouring the experimentally pre-ferred product enantiomers. Although the results indicated a mode of catalysis consistent with the experimental data, the relative docking energies between TS-model enantiomers were too great to allow an in silico correlation with experimentally observed ees. Thus, several changes were made to the reverse-docking algorithm, EM-Dock, allowing the first reported correlation with experimentally reported ee values, based solely on reverse docking and molecular mechanics energies.

In 2005, Yamamoto et al. found that the axially chiral 1,1'-biaryl-2,2'-dimethanol (BAMOL) scaffold to be highly effective for the catalysis of the HDA reaction of a wide range of aliphatic and aromatic aldehydes.¹⁰⁷ This new scaffold shared with TADDOLs a bis-(diarylhydroxymethyl) functionality, in which the steric and electronic properties were readily tunable. Useful yields and excellent enantioselectivities were obtained for the HDA reaction between a 1-amino-3-siloxydiene and a wide variety of unactivated aldehydes (Scheme 57).



Scheme 57. BAMOL-catalysed HDA reactions.

In 2005, Jorgensen et al. reported the use of chiral bis-sulfonamide derivatives of vicinal diamines as organocatalysts for the HDA reaction of aldehydes with Danishefsky's diene.¹⁰⁸ The corresponding chiral tetrahydropyranones could be isolated in good yield with a moderate enantioselectivity of up to 50% ee. Another novel chiral organocatalyst with a rigid oxazoline backbone was developed by Sigman and Rajaram and applied to similar reactions, providing a high degree of enantioselectivity combined with moderate-to-good yields, as shown in Scheme 58.¹⁰⁹

In 2007, Sigman and Jensen studied the effect of the organocatalyst acidity on the enantioselectivity of the HDA reaction performed in the presence of another organocatalyst, which had a unique design featuring an oxazoline core with a pendant amine and alcohol group.¹¹⁰ By using this modular catalyst design, the effect of the catalyst acidity was systematically probed in the HDA reaction of benzaldehyde with the same aminodiene. Indeed, it was found that both the reaction rate and the enantioselectivity could be directly correlated with the catalyst acidity. In 2007, Frejd et al. reported the synthesis of a novel chiral organocatalyst system, based on the dibenzobicyclo[3.3.1]nona-2,6-diene framework.¹¹¹



Scheme 58. HDA reactions catalysed by rigid oxazoline.

reactions, providing both moderate yields and enantioselectivities (\leq 52% ee).

3. Reactions of activated aldehydes

Activated aldehydes, such as alkyl glyoxylates, have been successfully engaged in HDA reactions and could be combined with electron-rich Danishefsky-type or less nucleophilic dienes. These reactions are often high yielding, but can give rise to side products resulting from a competitive ene reaction. These activated dienophiles are set up for bidentate coordination and it is this structural feature that has been exploited for asymmetric catalysis. The HDA reaction of activated aldehydes, such as alkyl glyoxylates, with simple 1,3-dienes has not been intensively investigated. In recent years, only a few examples of using chiral activated aldehydes as chiral dienophiles have been reported. In 2004, Jurczak et al. developed the HDA reaction of (R)-8-phenylmenthyl glyoxylate with 1,3-butadiene in the presence of a Lewis acid, such as SnCl₄ or TiCl₄, which provided the corresponding cycloadduct as a single diastereoisomer and in quantitative yield (Scheme 59).¹¹²



Scheme 59. HDA reaction of (R)-8-phenylmenthyl glyoxylate with 1,3-butadiene.

On the other hand, many chiral catalysts have been applied to catalyse enantioselective HDA reactions. Several types of chiral ligands have been used in recent years for the copper-catalysed HDA reaction. Bolm et al. have been interested in incorporating the chiral sulfoximine functionality into various structures for use as chiral ligands in HDA reactions.¹¹³ Thereby, highly enantioselective HDA reactions were performed by Bolm et al. in the presence of a C₂-symmetric bis-sulfoximine copper complex as the chiral catalyst.¹¹⁴ As shown in Scheme 60, the cycloaddition between ethyl glyoxylate and 1,3-cyclohexadiene in the presence of a chiral arylbridged bis-sulfoximine and Cu(OTf)₂ yielded the HDA adduct in high yield with an exceptionally high diastereo- and enantioselectivity. As an extension of this methodology, these workers have demonstrated that C2-symmetrical ethylene-bridged bis-sulfoximines had the same potential to induce chirality for the same reaction (Scheme 60).¹¹⁵



Scheme 60. Cu(II)-catalysed HDA reactions with bis-sulfoximine ligands.

In order to ascertain whether the C_2 -symmetry of the efficient bis-sulfoximine ligands was really essential, or if C_1 -symmetric monosulfoximine derivatives could also be applied in asymmetric HDA reactions and lead to high enantioselectivities, the same group has developed the synthesis of various sulfoximines, in which the second donor atom was a quinolyl nitrogen.¹¹⁶ The use of these novel ligands in the Cu(II)-catalysed HDA reaction between 1,3cyclohexadiene and ethyl glyoxylate led to the corresponding cycloadduct in excellent yield and diastereoselectivity and with up to 91% ee (Scheme 61).



Scheme 61. Cu(II)-catalysed HDA reactions with C_1 -symmetric monosulfoximine ligands.

In 2002, Jorgensen et al. studied the Cu(II)-catalysed HDA reaction of ethyl glyoxylate with 1,3-cyclohexadiene in the presence of various chiral bisoxazolines as ligands.¹¹⁷ Surprisingly, it was shown that the absolute configuration of the HDA adduct obtained in the presence of the chiral bis(phenyloxazoline)Cu(II) complex was dependent on the solvent. In this case, a linear relationship between the enantioselectivity and the dielectric constant of the solvent was observed (Scheme 62). The enantioselectivity for the adduct obtained with the chiral bis(*tert*-butyloxazoline)Cu(II)





Scheme 62. Cu(II)-catalysed HDA reactions with bisoxazoline ligands.

complex was, however, independent of the solvent (Scheme 62). On the basis of the X-ray structures and theoretical calculations, this observed reversal in the enantioselectivity when changing from the [Cu(II)(t-Bu-Box)] to the [Cu(II)(Ph-Box)] system was caused by a geometrical transformation, mainly of steric origin.

Chiral (salen)Cr(III) complexes have been demonstrated by Jurczak et al. to be efficient catalysts for the HDA reactions of alkyl glyoxylates with various dienes.¹¹⁸ As an example, the cycloaddition of 1,3-cyclohexadiene performed in the presence of a chiral (salen)Cr(III) complex, depicted in Scheme 63, led to the corresponding adducts in good yields and excellent diastereo- and enantioselectivity.¹¹⁹ In addition, the use of Jacobsen's catalyst to promote the cycloaddition between 1-methoxybuta-1,3-diene and *n*-butyl glyoxylate allowed the corresponding cycloadduct to be obtained in good yield and cis-diastereoselectivity with up to 88% ee (Scheme 63).¹²⁰ In 2004, this reaction was also performed in the presence of a chiral (salen)Co(II) complex, providing up to 90% ee, as shown in Scheme 63.¹²¹



Scheme 63. HDA reactions catalysed by (salen)Cr(III) and (salen)Co(II) complexes.

Another type of chiral chromium–salen complex, bearing DIANANE (*endo,endo-2,5-*diaminonorbornane) as the chiral backbone, was successfully applied by Berkessel and Vogl, in 2006, to the HDA reactions of ethyl glyoxylate with Danishefsky's diene and less reactive 1-methoxybuta-1,3-diene.⁵⁵ These reactions afforded the corresponding cycloadducts in moderate yields and enantioselectivities of up to 90% ee, as shown in Scheme 64.



Scheme 64. HDA reactions catalysed by DIANANE-Cr(III) salen complex.

In 2000, Kalesse et al. reported the total synthesis of biologically active (+)-ratjadone, using as the key step, the HDA reaction of ethyl glyoxylate with 1-methoxybuta-1,3-diene catalysed by a BINOL-titanium complex.¹²² This diastereo- and enantioselective reaction, depicted in Scheme 65, was also employed as the key step in the synthesis of other natural products, such as callystatin A and (+)-goniothalamin.¹²³ Moreover, chiral binaphthyl ligands containing sterically bulky 3,3'-substituents have been used by Pu and Gong in combination with AlMe₃ to catalyse the HDA reaction of enamide aldehydes with Danishefsky's diene, providing up to 78% ees along with moderate yields (20–60%).¹²⁴



Scheme 65. Synthesis of (+)-ratjadone via Ti(IV)-catalysed HDA reaction.

In 2002, the asymmetric HDA reaction of ethyl glyoxylate with 1,3-cyclohexadiene was successfully performed by Mikami et al. in the presence of enantiopure BIPHEP–Pd complexes, such as $[Pd\{(R)$ -BIPHEP}(MeCN)_2], which gave high enantioselectivity of up to 82% ee (Scheme 66).¹²⁵ When the BIPHEP–Pd catalyst was combined with chiral diaminobinaphthyl, an even better enantioselectivity of up to 94% ee was obtained for the same reaction (Scheme 66).¹²⁶ Other complexes of this type, such as $[Pd\{(R)$ -BIPHEP}(ArCN)_2], have been developed by Gagné et al. and investigated for the same reaction, providing enantioselectivity of up to 99% ee, as shown in Scheme 66.¹²⁷ Moreover, the application of these conditions to the reaction of phenyl glyoxal with 1,3-cyclohexadiene led to the corresponding cycloadduct with up to 99% ee, up to 96% de and 80% yield.¹²⁷

On the other hand, enantiopure Lewis-acid platinum-metal complexes of conformationally flexible NUPHOS-type diphosphines have been demonstrated by Doherty et al. to be highly efficient catalysts for the HDA reaction between non-activated dienes and alkyl glyoxylates and aryl glyoxals.¹²⁸ As shown in



Scheme 66. HDA reactions catalysed by BIPHEP-Pd complexes.

Scheme 67, enantioselectivities of up to 99% ee were obtained, rivalling those obtained using the corresponding platinum–BINAP complex.



Scheme 67. HDA reactions catalysed by NUPHOS-type diphosphine-Pt complex.

In addition, chiral bis(oxazolinyl)phenylrhodium(III) aqua complexes have been involved to promote the HDA reaction of glyoxylates with Danishefsky's diene, giving enantioselectivities of up to 84% ee when the catalyst was chiral (PHEBox)*RhF₂(H₂O).¹²⁹ Very recently, cationic chiral dirhodium carboxamidates, such as [Rh₂(5S-MEPY)₄]PF₆ or [Rh₂(5S-MEPY)₄]SbF₆, have been used to promote the HDA reaction of ethyl glyoxylate with Danishefsky's diene, providing the corresponding cycloadduct in quantitative yield and in 76% ee (Scheme 68).⁸² Moreover, similar reactions were performed by Qian and Wang in the presence of various chiral bisoxazoline–lanthanide complexes.¹³⁰ Therefore, the HDA adduct resulting from the reaction between Danishefsky's diene and methyl glyoxylate was obtained in up to 77% ee and 73% yield in the presence of a chiral Yb complex, depicted in Scheme 68.

Finally, chiral bis-trifluoromethanesulfonylamides have been shown to work as efficient organocatalysts for the HDA reactions between Danishefsky's diene and glyoxylate or phenyl glyoxal, presumably through double hydrogen bonding (Scheme 69).¹³¹ Among these bis-triflylamides, (R,R)-1,2-N,N'-bis-(trifluoromethanesulfonylamino)-1,2-diphenylethane (DPE-NTf) gave the highest enantioselectivity (87% ee). In addition, Jorgensen et al.



Scheme 68. HDA reactions catalysed by (PHEBox)RhX_2(H_2O), $[Rh_2(5S\text{-MEPY})_4]PF_6$ and (Box)–Yb complex.



a developed similar reactions satalysed by a bis popular

have developed similar reactions catalysed by a bis-nonaflamide of the same chiral diamine, which gave enantioselectivities of up to 73% ee. 108

4. Reactions of activated ketones

As shown in the preceding sections, aldehvdes have frequently been employed as dienophiles in asymmetric HDA reactions, providing a convenient access to partly unsaturated six-membered heterocycles. In contrast, far fewer examples of enantioselective cycloadditions with ketones have been reported in the literature, because of their inherently low reactivity. Indeed, in comparison with the cycloaddition involving aldehydes as the heterodienophile, the HDA reaction of ketones is still today a challenge to chemists, since, until recently, only a very few examples of the asymmetric HDA reactions of ketones had been reported. An important aspect of the HDA reactions of ketones is the construction of oxygen heterocycles having a quaternary carbon atom centre and a concomitant challenge is to have stereocontrol over the formation of these quaternary carbon atom centres. Since ketones are less reactive than aldehydes on both steric and electronic grounds, special reaction conditions need to be applied for the cycloaddition to proceed. The direct catalytic enantioselective HDA reactions of activated ketones, presented in this section, make use of various Lewis-acid catalysts, whereas the cycloadditions involving unactivated ketones with dienes are very rare. The cycloaddition of dienes with ketones provides instant access to chiral dihydropyranones exhibiting a stereogenic quaternary carbon atom. The formed chiral dihydropyranones have been used as important building blocks in the natural product syntheses of carbohydrates. pheromones, insect toxins, antitumour agents, antibiotics and antiinflammatory sesquiterpenoids. The two main types of HDA reactions that ketones can undergo are the direct normal and the inverse electron-demand cycloaddition reactions. For the direct normal electron-demand HDA reaction, a ketone reacts with a conjugated diene and, in order to promote the reaction, either pressure or catalysis is required. The activation of the ketone can be performed by coordination of a Lewis acid to the ketone oxygen atom, which results in decreasing the energy of the ketone LUMO, thus making a more favourable interaction with the diene HOMO. To the best of author's knowledge, no example of an asymmetric HDA reaction involving an unactivated ketone has been reported in the literature in the last 8 years. Another approach for activating the HDA reaction of ketones with conjugated dienes is to use ketones having electron-withdrawing groups, such as esters, since these substituents are also able to lower the LUMO energy, leading to a more reactive substrate. A further activation of these activated ketones is to apply Lewis-acid catalysis, as this will lower the LUMO energy even more. The majority of the recent work dealing with asymmetric HDA reactions of activated ketones has been concentrated on asymmetric catalysis. In these reactions, the substrate, such as an α -keto ester, is set up for bidentate coordination to a chiral Lewis acid (or a chiral organocatalyst), as outlined in Scheme 70. The bidentate coordination of the α -keto ester to the chiral Lewis acid has two purposes, namely activation of the ketone functionality for the reaction, and discrimination of one of the faces of the ketone shielded by a chiral ligand, such as a C_2 -symmetric chiral ligand, depicted in Scheme 70.



Scheme 70. Coordination of α -keto ester to chiral C_2 -symmetric chiral ligand.

In the last 8 years, various chiral Lewis acids have been employed to catalyse enantioselective HDA reactions of activated ketones, with a particular preference for copper catalysts.

4.1. Chiral copper catalysts

A few types of chiral ligands have been used in recent years for the Cu-catalysed HDA reaction of activated ketones. In particular, Bolm et al. have developed several chiral ligands incorporating the chiral sulfoximine functionality. Highly enantioselective HDA reactions were performed by these workers in the presence of a C₂-symmetric bis-sulfoximine-copper complex as the chiral catalyst.^{114a} As shown in Scheme 71, the cycloaddition between 1,3-cyclohexadiene and diethyl ketomalonate, performed in the presence of a chiral aryl-bridged bis-sulfoximine and Cu(OTf)₂, led to the corresponding cycloadduct in high yield and enantioselectivity.¹¹⁵ The same authors also performed this reaction in the presence of C₁-symmetric monosulfoximine derivatives, in which the second donor atom was a quinolyl nitrogen. The use of these novel ligands in this Cu-catalysed HDA reaction led to the corresponding cycloadduct in good yield and enantioselectivity (Scheme 71).¹¹⁶



Scheme 71. Cu(II)-catalysed HDA reactions with bis- and monosulfoximine ligands.

In 2001, Ghosh and Shirai reported the asymmetric HDA reaction of Danishefsky's diene with a variety of α -keto esters performed in the presence of chiral *cis*-aminoindan-2-ol-derived conformationally constrained bisoxazoline ligands complexed with Cu(OTf)₂.¹³² The resulting cycloadducts provided an important enantioselective access to quaternary carbon centres. The best enantioselectivity (99% ee) was obtained for α -keto esters containing a small alkyl group (Scheme 72). This methodology was applied to the synthesis of (–)-malyngolide.



Scheme 72. Cu(II)-catalysed HDA reactions of α -keto esters in the presence of bisoxazoline ligands.

Various novel aryl-substituted bisoxazoline derivatives have been investigated by Rutjes et al. as chiral ligands for the asymmetric Cu-catalysed HDA reaction of methyl pyruvate with Danishefsky's diene.¹³³ The use of a 1-naphthyl-substituted ligand afforded the corresponding cycloadduct in almost quantitative yield, but with moderate enantioselectivity (\leq 35% ee). The application of the corresponding anthryl-substituted ligand did not, however, lead to any dramatic improvement, since only a slight enhancement of the enantioselectivity of up to 45% ee was observed, along with 82% yield. In 2007, Jorgensen et al. developed the HDA reaction of 1-pyridin-2-yl-ethanone with electron-rich dienes in the presence of chiral Cu(II)–bisoxazoline complexes, as depicted in Scheme 73.⁸⁸ Although moderate yields and good enantioselectivities were obtained when these conditions were applied to the corresponding aldehydes (see Scheme 43), the reactions of this ketone provided better yields and excellent enantioselectivities, as shown in Scheme 73.



Scheme 73. Cu(II)-catalysed HDA reactions of 1-pyridin-2-yl-ethanone.

In 2002, Dalko et al. investigated the HDA reaction of ethyl pyruvate with Danishefsky's diene in the presence of a new type of chiral copper catalyst.¹³⁴ The preparation of this catalyst was based on the condensation of a chiral 1,2-diamine with cyclobutanone, which afforded the corresponding imidazolidine **D** in solution in equilibrium with the corresponding open form **E**. The corresponding bisimine **F** and the starting diamine are often present with compounds **D** and **E** in the reaction mixture.¹³⁵ It was anticipated that chelating metals such as Cu(II) would shift this equilibrium towards the metallacyclic form **G** by forming a bidentate complex (Scheme 74). Thereby, the application of this catalyst to the HDA reaction of ethyl pyruvate provided the corresponding dihydropyrone with high enantioselectivity and yield, as shown in Scheme 74.



Scheme 74. Cu(II)-catalysed HDA reaction of ethyl pyruvate.

Finally, the HDA reaction between Danishefsky's diene and sterically hindered α -keto esters in the presence of a Lewis acid combined with various chiral bisoxazolines, such as 2,2'-iso-propylidenebis[(4*S*)-4-*tert*-butyl-2-oxazoline], has been optimised by Wolf et al., using a validated high-throughput screening method.¹³⁶ The yields and enantioselectivities of three chiral dihydropyranones obtained by this multi-substrate one-pot screening approach were in excellent agreement with the individual screening results. The best enantioselectivities of up to 74%

ee and yields of up to 91% were obtained when $\mbox{Cu}(\mbox{OTf})_2$ was used as the Lewis acid.

4.2. Other chiral catalysts

A chiral Lewis acid prepared from BINOL and $Ti(O-i-Pr)_4$ was applied to the HDA reactions of alkyl pyruvates with a Danishefsky-type diene, affording the corresponding 2,2,6-trisubstituted dihydropyrones in good yields and high enantioselectivities (Scheme 75).^{67b}



Scheme 75. Ti(IV)-catalysed HDA reactions of alkyl pyruvates.

In 2003, Inanaga et al. investigated novel rare-earth metal complexes with chiral phosphate ligands as Lewis-acid catalysts for the asymmetric HDA reaction of phenyl glyoxylates with Danishefsky's diene under homogeneous conditions.^{95b} The ytterbium complex of (R)-1,1'-binaphthyl-2,2'-diylphosphate ((R)-BNP) was found to be particularly efficient for these reactions, since more than 99% ee was obtained in each case of substrate, as shown in Scheme 76.



Scheme 76. Yb(III)-catalysed HDA reactions of phenyl glyoxylates.

Asymmetric HDA reactions of activated ketones involving chiral organocatalysts are still very rare in the literature. In 2005, Jorgensen et al. reported the use of chiral bis-sulfonamide derivatives of vicinal diamines as organocatalysts for the HDA reaction of alkyl pyruvates with Danishefsky's diene.¹⁰⁸ The corresponding chiral cycloadducts could be isolated in good yields and enantioselectivities of up to 73% ee, as shown in Scheme 77.



Scheme 77. Organocatalysed HDA reactions of alkyl pyruvates.

5. Inverse HDA reactions of α , β -unsaturated ketones and α , β -unsaturated aldehydes

Compared to the HDA reaction of ketones with dienes discussed above, where only a limited number of catalytic and enantioselective reactions have been reported, the number of asymmetric HDA reactions in which the ketone functionality is part of a heterodiene is much higher. In contrast, there are only a few examples of using α,β -unsaturated aldehydes in inverse HDA reactions. In the case of the inverse electron-demand HDA reaction, the ketone functionality is part of an α,β -unsaturated system, which reacts in a cycloaddition reaction with an electron-rich alkene (Scheme 78). The inverse electron-demand HDA reaction is primarily controlled by a LUMO_{diene}-HOMO_{dienophile} interaction, which can be found, for example, in the reactions of enones and hetero analogues with alkenes having electron-donating groups, whereas the normal electron-demand reaction is a LUMO_{dienophile}-HOMO_{diene}-controlled HDA reaction, which predominantly occurs between electron-rich dienes and electron-deficient dienophiles.



Scheme 78. Inverse electron-demand HDA reactions of ketones.

Indeed, this reaction is controlled by the LUMO of the α , β -unsaturated ketone interacting with the HOMO of the alkene. This reaction can be catalysed by Lewis acids or organocatalysts, which coordinate to the ketone functionality of the α , β -unsaturated acyl system, thereby lowering the LUMO energy of the dienophile. For these inverse electron-demand HDA reactions, the ketone carbon atom is converted into a prochiral sp²-hybridised carbon atom where the chiral centre(s) in the molecule is (are) introduced in the reaction.



Scheme 79. Synthesis of (-)-reveromycin B.

5.1. Chiral auxiliaries

In recent years, important advances have been made in auxiliary-controlled inverse electron-demand HDA reactions. Indeed, a number of these asymmetric reactions have been developed on the basis of using chiral auxiliaries. As an example, Rizzacasa et al. have developed a total synthesis of the epidermal growth factor inhibitor, (–)-reveromycin B, in 25 linear steps from a chiral methylenepyran, which reacted with butylacrolein according to an asymmetric inverse electron-demand HDA reaction, as depicted in Scheme 79.¹³⁷ It was envisaged that the stereochemistry at the spiro centre of the resulting chiral 6,6-spiroketal would be controlled by an axial attack of the aldehyde oxygen atom, due to the anomeric effect. This enantiopure 6,6-spiroketal was further converted into the biologically active target, (–)-reveromycin B.

The scope of this methodology was extended by the same group, in 2004, to the total synthesis of (-)-reveromycin A, a potent anticancer agent.¹³⁸ In this case, the use of K₂CO₃ gave low yields of the expected spiroketal, because of the base lability of the starting tetrasubstituted diene (Scheme 80). Therefore, the Lewis-acid promotion of the cycloaddition was surveyed using this diene and the same chiral dienophile, providing, in the presence of Eu(fod)₃, the corresponding cycloadduct in moderate yield, but as a single diastereomer, which was further converted into the desired target, (-)-reveromycin A.



A number of coumarin compounds, possessing anticoagulant activity, have been synthesised as potential drugs for the management of myocardial infarction. In order to design an enantioselective entry into this class of oral anticoagulants, Cravotto et al. have developed the asymmetric HDA reaction between in situgenerated 3-arylidene-2,4-chromanediones and the iso-propenyl ether derived from (-)-menthol.¹³⁹ Well-investigated and versatile anionic-pericyclic domino reactions that have been developed by Tietze's group are the domino Knoevenagel/HDA reactions.¹⁴⁰ In this type of reaction, a 1-oxa-1,3-butadiene is first formed in situ by the condensation of an aldehyde with a cyclic or highly reactive acyclic 1,3-dicarbonyl compound.¹⁴¹ This oxabutadiene then undergoes a cycloaddition with a dienophile in the second step. The application of this methodology by Cravotto et al. has allowed chiral coumarin anticoagulants such as warfarin-like analogues to be prepared. After the release of the chiral cheap and recyclable auxiliary, the corresponding coumarin compounds, such as (S)-warfarin, (S)-coumachlor and (S)-acenocoumarol, were obtained in high enantioselectivity, as shown in Scheme 81.



X = Cl: (S)-coumachlor: 56% ee = 93%

X = NO₂: (S)-acenocoumarol: 59% ee = 95%

Scheme 81. Syntheses of coumarin anticoagulants via domino Knoevenagel/HDA reactions.

In the same area, Tietze et al. have reported the first enantioselective syntheses of the *Ipecacuanha* alkaloid, emetine, and the *Alangium* alkaloid, tubulosine, employing an asymmetric domino Knoevenagel/HDA reaction occurring between a chiral aldehyde, Meldrum's acid and an enol ether, as depicted in Scheme 82.¹⁴² Under these reaction conditions, the cycloadduct was shown to lose CO₂ and acetone to give the corresponding lactone. In a second domino process, this lactone was treated with K₂CO₃ in methanol, followed by hydrogenation, to give, finally, the expected benzoquinolizidine, together with two other diastereomers in an overall yield of 66% (35:23:42). This chiral benzoquinolizidine was further converted into the enantiopure alkaloids, emetine and tubulosine.



Scheme 82. Syntheses of emetine and tubulosine.

In 2003, Michelet et al. reported the synthesis of 1,2,3,5substituted tetrahydropyrans on the basis of the Eu(fod)₃-catalysed HDA reaction of a trisubstituted chiral enol ether derived from (R)mandelic acid and an activated heterodiene, promoting the creation of three stereogenic centres with remarkable and unprecedented *endo* and facial stereocontrol, since a single diastereomer was isolated, as depicted in Scheme 83.¹⁴³



Scheme 83. HDA reaction of trisubstituted (R)-mandelic acid-derived enol ether.

Due to their prominent roles in biological processes, highercarbon sugars have been receiving increasing attention in recent years. In this context, Liu et al. have developed a simple, one-pot multi-step route for the synthesis of a C10 higher-carbon sugar, based on the HDA reaction of an α , β -unsaturated ketone prepared in situ from protected D-xylose (Scheme 84).¹⁴⁴ In this reaction, a five-membered ring with an α , β -unsaturated ketone structure was formed in the presence of Ac₂O. Thus, the reaction of the starting protected D-xylose with PDC resulted in the initial formation of the corresponding 3-ketofuranose. A PhCO₂H group was then lost from this 3-ketofuranose, forming an α , β -unsaturated ketone. Two molecules of this α , β -unsaturated ketone underwent the HDA reaction, affording the final cycloadduct in good yield as a single diastereomer.



Scheme 84. Synthesis of higher-carbon sugar.

Aza-substituted dienophiles have rarely been used in asymmetric electron inverse demand cycloadditions. In this field, Dujardin et al. have developed such reactions involving enantiopure *N*-vinyl-2-oxazolidinones as new chiral dienophiles and β , γ -unsaturated α -keto esters under smooth Eu(fod)₃-catalysed conditions.¹⁴⁵ These reactions were achieved with high homogeneous *endo* and facial selectivities, weakly dependent on the substitution pattern of the chiral oxazolidinyl moiety (Scheme 85). An unequivocal relationship between the inducing stereogenic centre at C4' of the oxazolidinyl ring and the two stereogenic centres created on the dihydropyranic ring was established. The *endo-se*lective process proved to be facially controlled in favour of the (2*S*,4*S*)-adduct when starting from a (4*S*)-dienophile and in favour

of the (2*R*,4*R*)-adduct when starting from a (4*R*)-dienophile. In 2007, an extension of this work was afforded by Dhal et al. by using β -substituted *N*-vinyloxazolidinones, providing the corresponding heteroadducts with high levels of *endo* and facial selectivities, as shown in Scheme 85.¹⁴⁶ In this study, the authors demonstrated that the choice of the Lewis acid proved to be critical, affording



Scheme 85. HDA reactions of N-vinyl-2-oxazolidinones.

selectively either the *endo* α adduct using Eu(fod)₃ as the catalyst or the *endo* β adduct if the promoter was SnCl₄.

N-Vinyl-1,3-oxazolidine-2-thiones were also used as chiral new dienophiles in Eu(fod)₃-catalysed reverse HDA reactions involving benzylidene pyruvic acid methyl ester, but afforded only moderate *endo* and facial selectivities (*endo/exo* \leq 89/11, facial *endo* selectivity \leq 74/29), when compared to those obtained with the corresponding *N*-vinyl-1,3-oxazolidine-2-ones.¹⁴⁷ In contrast, a high diastereocontrol was observed with a sugar-derived *N*-vinyl-1,3-oxazolidine-2-thione, as depicted in Scheme 86. The efficient chiral transfer in this case could mainly be attributed to the specific



Scheme 86. HDA reaction of sugar-derived N-vinyl-1,3-oxazolidine-2-thione.

architecture of the 1,2:5,6-di-O-isopropylidene- α -D-glucofuranose moiety.

Resin-immobilised chiral reagents offer specific opportunities for the easy recovery and iterative use of expensive chiral sources.¹⁴⁸ A complementary approach, which avoids the prerequisite binding of the polymer to the chiral auxiliary, consists of supporting a prochiral substrate. In this context, Dujardin et al. have demonstrated the usefulness of a Wang resin-bound heterodiene for the stereoselective Eu(fod)₃-catalysed HDA reaction of a chiral vinyl ether.¹⁴⁹ As shown in Scheme 87, the endo-selective HDA reaction of (S)-(+)-O-vinyl mandelate with Wang-supported benzylidenepyruvate occurred with a high selectivity and yield, which compared well with those observed in solution. A further reductive cleavage by LiAlH₄ allowed the corresponding chiral dihydropyranic diol to be obtained as a mixture of two cis isomers in a 93/7 ratio. In addition, the solid-phase sequence allowed an unprecedented re-use of the catalyst in the presence of an excess of the dienophile in solution.



Scheme 87. HDA reaction of (*S*)-(+)-*O*-vinyl mandelate with Wang-supported benzylidenepyruvate.

In addition, a few intramolecular HDA reactions involving a chiral starting material have been described in recent years. As an example, Evans and Starr have reported a cascade cycloaddition strategy leading to the total synthesis of the potent antitumour agent, (–)-FR182877.¹⁵⁰ The sequence of transannular cycloadditions, depicted in Scheme 88, culminated in the formation of a chiral pentacyclic product as a single diastereomer, which was further converted in four steps into the target, (–)-FR182877.

In 2004, Avery et al. developed the first synthesis of the naturally occurring antimalarials, machaeriols A and B, from (*S*)-citronellal on the basis of an intramolecular HDA reaction, producing a chiral tricyclic hexahydrodibenzopyran derivative in high diastereoselectivity as the key intermediate (Scheme 89).¹⁵¹

In addition, the *O*-prenyl derivative of a sugar aldehyde derived from *D*-glucose underwent a smooth intramolecular domino Knoevenagel/HDA reaction with 1,3-diones to afford a novel class of



Scheme 88. Synthesis of (-)-FR182877 via intramolecular HDA reaction.



Scheme 89. Syntheses of machaeriols A and B via intramolecular HDA reaction.

carbohydrate analogues, the cis-fused furopyranopyrans (Scheme 90).¹⁵² An extension of this study to spirocyclic 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds (spiro 1,3-dihydropyranones) was performed with the same aldehyde to furnish interesting chiral cis-annulated polycyclic heterocycles.¹⁵³

On the other hand, other α , β -unsaturated systems, such as hetero analogues of enones, have been involved in inverse electrondemand HDA reactions. Therefore, Capozzi et al. have reported a new procedure for the preparation of enantiopure β -keto- δ -lactones from glycals, which were easily transformed into the corresponding α , α' -dioxothiones, which, in turn, could be quantitatively trapped with dienophiles in inverse electron-demand HDA reactions.¹⁵⁴ As depicted in Scheme 91, a single regio- and stereo-isomer was obtained for the cycloaddition of an oxothione with a tri-*O*-benzyl D-glucal, which was further subjected to desulfur-isation, giving the corresponding enantiopure 2-deoxy disaccharide. In 2003, Franck et al. extended this methodology to other 2-thiono-3-ketolactones, which gave by cycloaddition with



extension to other 1,3-diones:



Scheme 90. Domino Knoevenagel/HDA reactions with D-glucose derivative.

various carbohydrate glycals, other novel disaccharides bearing an *O*-glycosidic linkage at the anomeric centre and a thioether linking both C2 and C2', thus creating a third heterocyclic ring.¹⁵⁵ As an example, the cycloaddition of phthalimidothiofuranolactone with tri-*O*-acetyl galactal afforded the corresponding bottom-faced cycloadduct in 61% yield and as a single stereomer (Scheme 91).

In the same area, novel chiral bridging nucleoside analogues have been prepared by Marzabadi et al. on the basis of cycloaddition reactions between glycals and barbiturate-derived reactive thionoimides in modest yields (Scheme 92).¹⁵⁶ In all the reactions conducted, the major cycloadducts obtained were the bottomfaced adducts resulting from the *endo* addition to the glycal. It was shown that the reactions were unaffected by changes in the sugar protecting groups or in the nature of the pyranose sugar.

On the other hand, *N*-acylimines have been demonstrated by Dujardin et al. to be other potent hetero analogues of enones for HDA reactions with chiral vinyl ethers. In this context, these authors have disclosed a direct route to (R)-3-benzamido-3-phenylpropanal, produced by hydrolysis of a stable 6-alkoxy-5,6-dihydro-4*H*-1,3-



Scheme 91. HDA reactions of sugar-derived oxothiones.



Scheme 92. HDA reaction of barbiturate-derived thionoimide.

oxazine, asymmetrically obtained from the HDA reaction between (*R*)-O-vinyl pantolactone and (*E*)-*N*-benzoyl benzaldimine, as depicted in Scheme 93.¹⁵⁷ This key cycloaddition gave high and divergent diastereoselectivities when performed in the presence of a catalytic amount of Yb(fod)₃ or a stoichiometric amount of SnCl₄.



Scheme 93. HDA reaction of N-acylimine.



Scheme 94. Syntheses of β -aryl and alkyl β -benzamido aldehydes from *N*,*O*-acetals.

In the course of extending this procedure to other *N*-acylimines, these authors discovered that several compounds of this type lacked stability under the reaction conditions.¹⁵⁸ This lack of availability of unstabilised *N*-acylimines could be overcome by the use of the corresponding stable *N*,*O*-acetals acting as synthetic equivalents of *N*-acylimines in the Lewis-acid conditions used. In this context, the enantioselective syntheses of various β -aryl and alkyl β -benzamido aldehydes with ees ranging from 90 to 97% were achieved using a straightforward sequence that avoided any intermediate purification (Scheme 94).

In addition, Lectka et al. have developed HDA reactions between chiral ketene enolates, catalytically derived from acid chlorides and cinchona alkaloid nucleophilic catalysts in the presence of stoichiometric base, and heterodienes based on *o*-quinones.¹⁵⁹ These cycloadditions proceeded with excellent stereochemical control (up to >99% ee). For both the *o*-benzoquinone imide and the *o*-benzoquinone diimide manifolds, these reactions occurred with uniform enantioselectivity of >99% ee (see Scheme 96), whereas enantioselectivity









Scheme 95. HDA reactions of o-quinones.

HDA reactions of o-benzoquinone imides:



HDA reactions of o-benzoquinone diimides:



Scheme 96. HDA reactions of o-benzoquinone imides and o-benzoquinone diimides.

ranging from 89 to 99% ee was obtained for *o*-quinones, as shown in Scheme 95.¹⁶⁰ The study of *o*-quinones is also presented in Section 5.2.4, dealing with organocatalysed inverse electron-demand HDA reactions. Although the cycloadditions of *o*-benzoquinone diimides do not concern the subject of this review, it was decided to include them, however, since this work is directly correlated with that concerning the cycloaddition of *o*-benzoquinone imides.

The wide scope of this methodology provided access to a diverse range of biologically and synthetically useful chiral products, including α -hydroxy esters, non-natural α -amino acids and quinoxalinones, all with remarkable, catalytic control of regio- and stereochemistry.

In 2005, Takeya et al. reported the synthesis of (+)-grandione, a unique isetexane diterpene dimer, on the basis of an unusual solidstate HDA-type dimerisation reaction of (+)-demethylsalvicanol.¹⁶¹ The intramolecular HDA reaction of this chiral quinone, depicted in Scheme 97, provided one of the four possible cycloadducts in 61% yield. Very recently, Majetich and Zou have investigated an



Scheme 97. Synthesis of (+)-grandione via solid-state HDA-type dimerisation reaction.

alternative strategy by using water as the solvent.¹⁶² Therefore, when the reaction was carried out in water at 50 °C, (+)-grandione was isolated as a single stereomer in 52% yield.

5.2. Chiral catalysts

5.2.1. Chiral copper catalysts

Among the various chiral Lewis acids used as catalysts for the inverse electron-demand HDA reactions, the chiral bisoxazoline (Box) copper(II) complexes have been shown to be the most frequently employed in the last few years. In two independent reports from Evans et al. and from Jorgensen et al., it has been demonstrated that β , γ -unsaturated α -keto esters reacted with various vinyl ethers in the presence of these complexes and their hydrated counterparts.¹⁶³ Therefore, Jorgensen et al. have used a *tert*-butyl-substituted bisoxazoline Cu(II) complex, depicted in Scheme 98, to



Scheme 98. HDA reactions of β , γ -unsaturated α -keto esters and amides with vinyl (thio)ethers.



 $\begin{array}{l} {\sf R}^1 = {\sf Me}, \, {\sf R}^2 = t\text{-}{\sf Bu}, \, {\sf X} = {\sf OTf}, \, {\sf n} = 1 : 91\% \, \, {\sf de} > 98\% \, {\sf ee} = 95\% \\ {\sf R}^1 = {\sf OEt}, \, {\sf R}^2 = t\text{-}{\sf Bu}, \, {\sf X} = {\sf SbF}_6, \, {\sf n} = 1 : 100\% \, \, {\sf de} > 98\% \, {\sf ee} = 97\% \\ {\sf R}^1 = {\sf R}^2 = {\sf Ph}, \, {\sf X} = {\sf OTf}, \, {\sf n} = 1 : 98\% \, \, {\sf de} > 98\% \, {\sf ee} = 94\% \\ {\sf R}^1 = {\sf Me}, \, {\sf R}^2 = t\text{-}{\sf Bu}, \, {\sf X} = {\sf SbF}_6, \, {\sf n} = 2 : 55\% \, \, {\sf de} = 96\% \, {\sf ee} = 92\% \\ \end{array}$



 $\begin{array}{l} \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{Y} = \mathsf{Me}, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{Ph}, \, \mathsf{X} = \mathsf{SbF}_6 : 95\% \ de > 98\% \ ee = 86\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{Me}, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{Ph}, \, \mathsf{X} = \mathsf{SbF}_6, \, \mathsf{Y} = \mathsf{SEt} : 89\% \ de = 98\% \ ee = 95\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{Ph}, \, \mathsf{X} = \mathsf{SbF}_6, \, \mathsf{Y} = \mathsf{OEt} : 98\% \ de > 98\% \ ee = 98\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \textit{i}\text{-}\mathsf{Pr}, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = \textit{t}\text{-}\mathsf{Bu}, \, \mathsf{X} = \mathsf{SbF}_6, \, \mathsf{Y} = \mathsf{OEt} : 96\% \ de > 98\% \ ee = 93\% \end{array}$



Scheme 99. HDA reactions of $\alpha,\beta\text{-unsaturated}$ acyl phosphonates with vinyl (thio)ethers.

promote a number of successful HDA reactions of β , γ -unsaturated α -keto esters, including γ -amino-protected β , γ -unsaturated α -keto esters, with vinyl ethers and various types of cis-disubstituted alkenes, proceeding in good yield, high diastereoselectivity and excellent enantioselectivity. Comparable results were obtained by Evans et al. by using the corresponding hydrated complex, depicted in Scheme 98. The use of this complex was extended by Evans et al. to vinyl thioethers and β , γ -unsaturated α -keto amides, which gave the corresponding cycloadducts with similar excellent yields and stereoselectivities, as shown in Scheme 98. The potential of such reactions was demonstrated by the syntheses of various enantiopure carbohydrates such as spirosugars and *C*-branched sugars.

The scope of this methodology could be extended to α , β unsaturated acyl phosphonates, which reacted with a series of vinyl (thio)ethers, providing the corresponding cycloadducts in high yield, and diastereo- and enantioselectivity. As shown in Scheme 99, a range of substitution patterns was possible on the heterodiene, since terminal alkyl, aryl and alkoxy substituents were all tolerated.^{163d}

An efficient catalytic double asymmetric induction during a new type of catalytic domino transetherification/intramolecular HDA reaction has been developed by Koga et al., leading to enantiomerically enriched trans-fused hydropyranopyran derivatives by using methyl (*E*)-4-methoxy-2-oxo-3-butenoate and δ , ε -unsaturated alcohols in the presence of (*S*,*S*)-*t*-Bu-Box-Cu(SbF₆)₂ and molecular sieves (5 Å) (Scheme 100).¹⁶⁴

A number of the versatile catalytic systems described above suffer from considerable drawbacks, such as the requirement of a relatively large quantity of catalyst (generally 10 mol %), high cost and low turnover number. In an effort to find a solution to these problems, a number of heterogeneous systems have been developed in recent years. In general, homogeneous asymmetric catalysts have been anchored onto stationary supports such as organic cross-linked polymers or inorganic materials.¹⁶⁵ These methods offer several advantages such as easy separation of the products and recycling of the catalyst. The use of immobilised vinyl ethers has been applied to the asymmetric Cu-catalysed HDA reaction. Therefore, Schreiber and Stavenger could load a collection of vinyl ethers onto pools of polystyrene (PS) macrobeads.¹⁶⁶ These



Scheme 100. Asymmetric domino transetherification/intramolecular HDA reaction.

support-bound vinvl ethers were then treated with a collection of β . γ -unsaturated keto esters in the presence of 20 mol % of a chiral [(t-Bu-Box)Cu(OTf)₂] complex to provide the corresponding resin-bound cycloadducts with up to 94% de and 96% ee. This methodology allowed the construction of a 4232-membered dihydropyrancarboxamide library to be made on 500-µm polystyrene beads. In the same area, Kurosu et al. have developed Cucatalysed HDA reactions on polymer supports using indane-derived bisoxazoline (Inda-Box) as a novel chiral ligand.¹⁶⁷ Therefore, several vinyl ethers were loaded onto LanternTM,¹⁶⁸ a polystyrenegrafted surface, which is cylindrical in appearance. These polymersupported vinyl ethers were further subjected to HDA reactions with structurally diverse heterodienes in the presence of chiral [(Inda-Box)Cu(OTf)₂] to give the corresponding cycloadducts with excellent diastereo- and enantioselectivity, as shown in Scheme 101. In addition, Hutchings et al. have immobilised chiral [(Ph-Box)Cu(OTf)₂] using mesoporous materials and zeolite Y, which was demonstrated to produce an effective heterogeneous catalyst for the HDA reaction between (E)-ethyl-2-oxo-3-pentenoate and vinyl ethyl ether, giving up to 41% ee.¹⁶⁹ In 2004, similar results (up to 41% ee) were obtained by Klein Gebbink et al. by using chiral [(t-Bu-Box)Cu(OTf)₂] immobilised on silica for the same reaction.¹⁷⁰

In spite of the advantages presented by the heterogeneous systems, additional cumbersome modifications of the catalysts are often required and reduced catalytic activity and enantioselectivity



 $\begin{array}{l} \mathsf{R}^1 = \rho\text{-}\mathsf{BrC}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = (\mathsf{CH}_2)_4 \text{: de} = 84\% \ \text{ee} = 95\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \rho\text{-}\mathsf{BrC}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = (\mathsf{CH}_2)_4 \text{: de} = 86\% \ \text{ee} = 95\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = 2\text{-}\mathsf{Thio}, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = (\mathsf{CH}_2)_4 \text{: de} = 84\% \ \text{ee} = 85\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = 2\text{-}\mathsf{Thio}, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = (\mathsf{CH}_2)_4 \text{: de} = 84\% \ \text{ee} = 85\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{R}^3, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = (\mathsf{CH}_2)_4 \text{: de} = 82\% \ \text{ee} = 98\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{R}^4, \, \mathsf{R}^2 = (\rho\text{-}\mathsf{CH}_2)_2\text{-}\mathsf{C6}\mathsf{H}_4 \text{: de} = 82\% \ \text{ee} = 95\% \end{array}$



Scheme 101. HDA reactions of polymer-supported vinyl ethers.



Scheme 102. HDA reaction in ionic liquid.

are often associated with these systems. Recently, a new approach involving ionic liquids¹⁷¹ has been developed for catalyst separation and recycling.¹⁷² In ionic liquids, a metal–ligand complex having an ionic nature could be solvated and immobilised without additional structural modification. The immobilised catalyst could be recycled by simple extraction of the ionic liquid with a relatively non-polar organic solvent after the reaction. In 2008, Kim et al. reported the successful use of hydrophobic ionic liquids, such as [Bmim]PF₆ and [Bmim]SbF₆, as powerful media for bisoxazoline–copper-catalysed asymmetric HDA reactions (Scheme 102).¹⁷³ Both the reactivity and the stereoselectivity were comparable to those of the corresponding homogeneous reactions. Moreover, in ionic liquids, the reaction was significantly faster than in dichloromethane and the metal–ligand complexes were recovered and recycled up to eightfold, exhibiting almost the same activity and stereoselectivity.

5.2.2. Chiral chromium catalysts

There are only a very few examples of asymmetric inverse electron-demand HDA reactions of oxabutadienes, which do not bear electron-withdrawing groups and, in particular, simple α , β -unsaturated aldehydes. In 2002, Jacobsen et al. reported the use of (1*R*,2*S*)-Jacobsen's catalyst to promote highly enantioselective inverse electron-demand HDA reactions of a range of α , β -unsaturated aldehydes with ethyl vinyl ether, providing the corresponding dihydropyran derivatives in a highly enantioenriched form (Scheme 103).¹⁷⁴

In 2003, the same authors demonstrated the application of this methodology in the efficient and stereoselective synthesis of



Scheme 103. Jacobsen's catalyst-controlled HDA reactions of α,β -unsaturated aldehydes.

several iridoid natural products.¹⁷⁵ Therefore, the cycloaddition between ethyl vinyl ether and enantioenriched 5-methyl-1-cyclopentene-1-carboxaldehyde was performed in the presence of (1*R*,2*S*)-Jacobsen's catalyst or corresponding (1*S*,2*R*)-catalyst, affording the corresponding diastereomeric cycloadducts in excellent enantioselectivity (>99% ee in each case) and diastereoselectivities of 94 and 76% de, respectively. These cycloadducts were further converted into enantiopure boschnialactone, teucriumlactone, iridomyrmecin and isoiridomyrmecin (Scheme 104).



Scheme 104. Syntheses of iridoid natural products.

In 2003, Hall et al. and Carreaux et al. developed a catalytic enantioselective one-pot, three-component HDA-cycloaddition/ allylboration reaction involving 3-boronoacrolein pinacolate, ethyl vinyl ether and aldehydes to afford α -hydroxyalkyl dihydropyr-ans.¹⁷⁶ The key substrate, 3-boronoacrolein pinacolate, was found to be an exceptionally reactive heterodiene in the HDA reaction with aldehydes catalysed by Jacobsen's catalyst. The corresponding α -hydroxyalkyl dihydropyrans were obtained from a wide variety of aldehydes, including unsaturated aldehydes and α -chiral aldehydes, with very high enantio- and diastereoselectivity, as shown in Scheme 105.

This methodology has been applied by Carreaux et al. to the syntheses of natural antitumour products, such as (+)-goniodiol,¹⁷⁷ (+)-methoxygoniodiol and its analogue, (+)-deoxygoniodiol,¹⁷⁸ by using (2*R*)-(*tert*-butyldiphenylsilyloxy)phenylacetaldehyde, (2*R*)-methoxy(phenyl)acetaldehyde and phenylacetaldehyde as the al-dehyde substrates, respectively. As shown in Scheme 106, excellent diastereo- and enantioselectivity was obtained in all cases.

The scope of the preceding methodology could be extended to acyclic 2-substituted enol ethers, in spite of the presence of the added steric effect of the 2-substituent.¹⁷⁹ In this context, the first enantioselective total synthesis of a potent natural thiomarinol antibiotic was developed on the basis of a three-component HDA-cycloaddition/allylboration reaction between 3-boronoacrolein pinacolate, a diastereomeric mixture of a 2-substituted enol ether and an aldehyde depicted in Scheme 107.¹⁸⁰ It was shown that the reaction of this mixture of *Z*- and *E*-isomer only afforded the product consistent with a kinetically selective cycloaddition of the *Z*-isomer. The *Z*-isomer could be more reactive simply as a result of



Scheme 105. Jacobsen's catalyst-controlled, three-component HDA-cycloaddition/ allylboration reactions.

steric control by the very bulky catalyst, which led to the formation of a single cycloadduct in good yield, as depicted in Scheme 107. Indeed, this reaction featured an unusual, but fortuitous, kinetic



 $\label{eq:scheme106} Scheme \ 106. \ \ \ Syntheses \ of (+)-goniodiol, (+)-8-methoxygoniodiol \ and \ (+)-8-deoxygoniodiol.$



Scheme 107. Synthesis of thiomarinol derivative.

selection, favouring the requisite Z-dienophile from the mixture of isomers. This cycloadduct, enantio-, regio-, E/Z- and diastereoselectively obtained, was further converted into the desired thiomarinol derivative.

5.2.3. Other chiral metal catalysts

Among other chiral Lewis acids used as catalysts for the inverse electron-demand HDA reactions, a phenyl-substituted bisoxazoline zinc(II) complex, depicted in Scheme 108, has been successfully employed by Jorgensen et al.^{163b} These authors have demonstrated that β , γ -unsaturated α -keto esters, including γ -amino-protected β , γ -unsaturated α -keto esters, reacted with various vinyl ethers in the presence of this complex, yielding the corresponding cyclo-adducts in good yield and diastereoselectivity, combined with excellent enantioselectivity.



Scheme 108. Zn(II)-catalysed HDA reactions of $\beta,\gamma\text{-unsaturated}$ $\alpha\text{-keto}$ esters with vinyl ethers.



Ar = Ph: 99% major/minors = 66:34 ee (major) > 99% Ar = p-Tol: 93% major/minors = 67:33 ee (major) > 99% Ar = p-BrC₆H₄: 99% major/minors = 65:35 ee (major) > 99% Ar = p-NO₂C₆H₄: 84% major/minors = 61:39 ee (major) = 99%



Scheme 109. Sc(III)-catalysed HDA reactions of methyl (*E*)-2-oxo-4-aryl-3-butenoates with cyclopentadiene.

In 2007, the cycloaddition between methyl (E)-2-oxo-4-aryl-3butenoates and cyclopentadiene was studied by Desimoni et al.¹⁸¹ These workers found that, in addition to the expected normal Diels-Alder adducts, the reaction gave the less-expected HDA cycloadducts. Therefore, when the reaction was performed in the presence of a catalytic amount of the chiral Sc(III) triflate complex of a PYBOX ligand, depicted in Scheme 109, the HDA cycloadducts became the main reaction products, obtained as single diastereomers and with excellent enantioselectivity of >99% ee. Surprisingly, the use of the corresponding chiral lanthanum complex furnished the opposite enantiomer in the reaction of methyl (E)-2-oxo-4-phenyl-3-butenoate, albeit with low enantioselectivity (11% ee).¹⁸² Moreover, under these conditions, the Diels-Alder cycloadducts became largely predominant, since the ratio of the Diels-Alder cycloadduct to the HDA cycloadduct was estimated to be 81:19, combined to give 98% yield.

In addition, Lectka et al. reported, in 2007, an asymmetric bifunctional catalytic approach to non-natural α -amino acid derivatives on the basis of the HDA reaction between *o*-benzoquinone imides and ketene enolates in situ generated from the corresponding acyl chlorides.¹⁸³ Indeed, the combined use of a cinchona alkaloid-based catalyst and Sc(OTf)₃ allowed a remarkably high enantioselectivity to be obtained along with an excellent yield, as shown in Scheme 110. It was demonstrated that the presence of



Scheme 110. Sc(III)-catalysed HDA reactions of o-benzoquinone imide with ketene enolates.



 $\begin{array}{l} \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{Et}, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{Ph}, \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{Me}: 69\% \ ee = 84\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathit{i}\text{-}\mathsf{Pr}, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{Ph}, \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{Me}: 69\% \ ee = 92\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{Bn}, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{Ph}, \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{Me}: 65\% \ ee = 86\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{Et}, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathit{p}\text{-}\mathsf{ClC}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{Me}: 79\% \ ee = 85\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathit{i}\text{-}\mathsf{Pr}, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathit{p}\text{-}\mathsf{ClC}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{Me}: 70\% \ ee = 90\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{Bn}, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathit{p}\text{-}\mathsf{ClC}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{Me}: 62\% \ ee = 80\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{Et}, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{Me}, \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{Et}: 75\% \ ee = 94\% \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{Bn}, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{Me}, \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{Et}: 72\% \ ee = 89\% \\ \end{array}$



proposed catalytic cycle:



Scheme 111. Pyrrolidine-catalysed HDA reactions.

 $Sc(OTf)_3$ in addition to the cinchona alkaloid-based catalyst reduced the reaction times and increased the chemical yields of the reactions. Effectively, these reactions were previously studied by the same authors in the presence of this cinchona alkaloid-based catalyst, but without $Sc(OTf)_3$ (see Scheme 113).¹⁸⁴

5.2.4. Chiral organocatalysts

Only recently, several examples of organocatalysed inverse electron-demand HDA reactions have been described. Therefore, the concept of inverse electron-demand HDA reactions was extended, in 2003, to organocatalytic asymmetric HDA reactions by Jorgensen and Juhl.¹⁸⁵ This concept was based on the consideration that an enamine formed by the reaction of a chiral amine, such as a chiral pyrrolidine, with an aldehyde could be considered as an electron-rich alkene, which reacted in a cycloaddition reaction with an α , β -unsaturated acyl ester to give the corresponding HDA cycloadduct, which, after cleavage of the aminal group by silica, gave the corresponding hemiacetal, obtained as a mixture of the two anomers (Scheme 111). A further oxidation of this mixture

with PCC yielded the corresponding lactone as a single diastereomer with good yield and high enantioselectivity, as shown in Scheme 111.

In 2006, a cinchona alkaloid-based catalyst was successfully employed by Lectka et al. to promote enantioselective HDA reactions between ketene enolates generated from the corresponding acyl chlorides and *o*-quinones, providing an efficient entry to chiral α -oxygenated carboxylic acid derivatives, which were obtained in good yield and excellent enantioselectivity of up to 99% ee (Scheme 112).¹⁸⁶



Scheme 112. HDA reactions of o-benzoquinones with ketene enolates catalysed by cinchona alkaloid.

The scope of the preceding methodology was successfully extended by the same group to *o*-benzoquinone imides, giving rise to the corresponding 1,4-benzoxazinone and 1,4-benzoxazine products in good yield and with uniformly excellent enantioselectivity, as shown in Scheme 113.¹⁸⁴

In 2006, Bode et al. developed asymmetric *N*-heterocyclic carbene-catalysed highly enantioselective HDA reactions of α -chloroaldehydes as enolate precursors with a broad range of enones.¹⁸⁷ This process, involving a chiral triazolium salt as a precatalyst used in less than 1 mol%, afforded a diverse set of chiral 3,4,6-trisubstituted dihydropyran-2-ones under mild conditions, as shown in Scheme 114. Alternatively, β , γ -unsaturated α -keto esters proved to be highly reactive substrates and provided the corresponding cycloadducts in excellent yields and diastereo- and enantioselectivity (Scheme 114).

An enantioselective organocatalytic inverse electron-demand HDA reaction of in situ-generated enamines with *o*-benzoquinones was reported, in 2007, by Dixon et al.¹⁸⁸ A range of L-proline derivatives and imidazolidinones were investigated as organocatalysts for this reaction, allowing the selection of the *tert*-butyl-imidazolidinone depicted in Scheme 115 as the most potent organocatalyst, providing enantioselectivity of up to 80% ee. The stereochemical outcome of the reaction was consistent with a favoured attack of the *o*-benzoquinone at the less-hindered face of the in situ-generated enamine, as shown in Scheme 115. Accordingly, the *tert*-butyl group was responsible for fixing the conformation and providing the facial bias on the approach of the *o*-benzoquinone.

In 2007, Zhao et al. studied some novel prolinal dithioacetal derivatives as organocatalysts for the HDA reaction between β , γ -unsaturated α -ketophosphonates and aldehydes.¹⁸⁹ When the reaction was carried out in the presence of the more hindered catalyst depicted in Scheme 116, the corresponding 5,6-dihydro-4*H*-pyran-2-ylphosphonates were produced in good enantioselectivity of up to 94% ee. In all cases, only the trans stereoisomer was formed as a mixture of two corresponding anomeric diastereomers, which was further oxidised to the corresponding lactone derivative.







 $R^{1} = Ph, R^{2} = Cy: 85\% ee = 95\%$ $R^{1} = n$ -Non, $R^{2} = p$ -Tol: 70% ee = 99% $R^{1} = OTBS, R^{2} = p$ -Tol: 83% ee = 95%

Scheme 114. N-Heterocyclic carbene-catalysed HDA reactions.









Scheme 116. HDA reactions of β , γ -unsaturated α -ketophosphonates with aldehydes catalysed by L-prolinal dithioacetal.

In addition, Liu et al. have very recently developed unusual inverse electron-demand HDA reactions of aldehydes with α , β -unsaturated trifluoromethyl ketones, occurring under mild conditions and using chiral diphenylprolinol silyl ether as the organocatalyst.¹⁹⁰ This catalyst was used in combination with *p*-fluorophenol and gave rise to the corresponding cycloadducts, which were further oxidised to give the corresponding lactone derivatives. Due to their instability, these lactones were further dehydrated by treatment with methanesulfonyl chloride and triethylamine, leading, finally, to the corresponding dihydropyranones, obtained in moderate yields (for the three steps) with high diastereo- and enantioselectivity, as shown in Scheme 117.





6. Conclusions

This review updates the asymmetric HDA reactions of carbonyl compounds covering the literature from 2000 to 2008. It demonstrates that the most important achievements are the spectacular expansion of novel chiral catalysts, including the especially attractive chiral organocatalysts, which have been recently applied to this type of reaction, allowing a large number of asymmetric HDA reactions to be performed under very mild conditions with generally 1-10 mol% of catalyst loadings. Indeed, a collection of new chiral Lewis-acid catalysts and organocatalysts have provided new opportunities for these enantioselective cycloadditions, allowing the use of both activated and unactivated aldehydes as well as ketones. Moreover, numerous important developments of the asymmetric HDA reaction have dealt with the inverse electrondemand HDA concept. In addition, a number of asymmetric HDA reactions, involving either chiral dienophiles or chiral dienes, have been recently successfully developed. The development of a catalytic enantioselective reaction of simple unactivated ketones remains, however, a challenge for chemists in the coming years. The asymmetric HDA reaction is therefore well represented as an important tool for organic synthesis and is one of the most powerful available methodologies for the construction of optically active sixmembered oxygen-containing heterocycles, with extensive synthetic applications in natural or unnatural products with a wide range of biological activity.

References and notes

- 1. Diels, O.; Alder, K. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1928, 460, 98-122.
- Comprehensive Organic Synthesis; Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Eds.; Pergamon: 2. Oxford, 1991; Vol. 5, Oppolzer, W., in Chapter 4.1; Roush, W.R., in Chapter 4.4. 3
- (a) Waldmann, H. Synthesis 1994, 535-551; (b) Rowland, G. B.; Rowland, E. B.; Zhang, Q.; Antilla, J. C. Curr. Org. Chem. 2006, 10, 981-1005; (c) Buonora, P.; Olsen, J.-C.; Oh, T. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 6099-6138.
- (a) Weinreb, S. M.; Staib, R. R. Tetrahedron 1982, 38, 3087-3128; (b) Boger, D. 4 Chem. Rev. 1986, 86, 781-794.
- 5. Kagan, H. B.; Riant, O. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 1007-1019.
- (a) Corey, E. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 1650-1667; (b) Nicolaou, K. C.; 6. Snyder, S. A.; Montagnon, T.; Vassilikogiannakis, G. E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 1668-1698; (c) Tietze, L. F.; Kettschau, G. Top. Curr. Chem. 1997, 189, 1-120; (d) Boger, D. L.; Weinreb, S. M. In Hetero-Diels-Alder Methodology in Organic Synthesis; Wasserman, H. H., Ed.; Academic: San Diego, CA, 1987. (a) Danishefsky, S. Acc. Chem. Res. **1981**, 14, 400–406; (b) Danishefsky, S.
- Chemtracts 1989, 273–297; (c) Boger, D. L. In Comprehensive Organic Synthesis;

Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Eds.; Pergamon: New York, NY, 1991; Vol. 5, p 451; (d) Tietze, L. F.; Kettschau, G. In Stereoselective Heterocyclic Synthesis 1; Metz, P., Ed.; Springer: Berlin, 1997; Vol. 189, p 1; (e) Jorgensen, K. A.; Johannsen, M.; Yao, S.; Audrain, H.; Thorhauge, J. Acc. Chem. Res. 1999, 32, 605-613; (f) Carmona, D.; Lamata, M. P.; Oro, L. A. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2000, 717-772.

- 8. Huang, Y.; Unni, A. K.; Thadani, A. N.; Rawal, V. H. Nature 2003, 424, 146.
- (a) Bernarski, M.; Maring, C.; Danishefsky, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24, 3451-3454; (b) Bernarski, M.; Danishefsky, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 6968-6969: (c) Bernarski, M.: Danishefsky, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 7060-7067: (d) Danishefsky, S. Aldrichimica Acta **1986**, 19, 59–69.
- 10. Schaus, S. E.; Branalt, J.; Jacobsen, E. N. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 403-405.
- (a) Danishefsky, S.; Larson, E.; Askin, D.; Kato, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 11 1246-1255; (b) Larson, E. R.; Danishefsky, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 6458-6460
- 12. Roberson, M.: Jepsen, A. S.: Jorgensen, K. A. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 907-913.
- 13. Jorgensen, K. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **2000**, 39, 3558–3588.
- Jorgensen, K. A. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 2093-2102. 14
- Lin, L.; Liu, X.; Feng, X. Synlett **2007**, 2147–2157. 15.
- 16. Osborn, H. M. I.; Coisson, D. Mini-Rev. Org. Chem. 2004, 1, 41-54.
- 17. Gouverneur, V.; Reiter, M. Chem.—Eur. J. 2005, 11, 5806–5815.
- 18. Stocking, E. M.; Williams, R. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 3078-3115.
- Voight, E. A.; Seradj, H.; Roethle, P. A.; Burke, S. D. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4045-19. 4048.
- 20 Garcia Ruano, J. L.; Fernandez-Ibanez, M. A.; Maestro, M. C. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 7683-7689.
- 21. Lucas, B. S.; Gopalsamuthiram, V.; Burke, S. D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 769-772
- 22 Baldoli, C.; Maiorana, S.; Licandro, E.; Zinzalla, G.; Lanfranchi, M.; Tiripicchio, A. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **2001**, 12, 2159–2167.
- 23. Martin, M.; Afonso, M. M.; Galindo, A.; Palenzuela, J. A. Synlett 2001, 117-119. 24 Cousins, R. P. C.; Pritchard, R. G.; Raynor, C. M.; Smith, M.; Stoodley, R. J. Tet-
- rahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 489-492. Ruijter, E.; Schültingkemper, H.; Wessjohann, L. A. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 25
- 2820-2823 26 Bongini, A.; Panunzio, M.; Bandini, E.; Campana, E.; Martelli, G.; Spunta, G.
- Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2001, 12, 439-454.
- 27. Panunzio, M.; Bandini, E.; Campana, E.; Vicennati, P. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2002. 13. 2113-2115.
- 28. Panunzio, M.; Rossi, K.; Tamanini, E.; Campana, E.; Martelli, G. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15, 3489-3493.
- 29 Panunzio, M.; Tamanini, E.; Bandini, E.; Campana, E.; D'Aurizio, A.; Vicennati, P. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 12270-12280.
- 30. Dossetter, A. G.; Jamison, T. F.; Jacobsen, E. N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 2398-2400.
- 31. Chavez, D. E.; Jacobsen, E. N. Org. Synth. 2005, 82, 34-39.
- (a) Thompson, C. F.; Jamison, T. F.; Jacobsen, E. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 32. 10482-10483; (b) Thompson, C. F.; Jamison, T. F.; Jacobsen, E. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 9974-9983.
- 33 Liu, P.; Jacobsen, E. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 10772-10773.
- 34. Chavez, D. E.; Jacobsen, E. N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 3667-3670.
- Bhattacharjee, A.; De Brabander, J. K. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 8069-8073. 35. 36.
- (a) Cox, J. M.; Rainier, J. D. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 2919–2922; (b) Majumder, U.; Cox, J. M.; Johnson, H. W. B.; Rainier, J. D. Chem.-Eur. J. 2006, 12, 1736-1746.
- 37. Paterson, I.; De Savi, C.; Tudge, M. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 3149-3152 38. (a) Paterson, I.; Tudge, M. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 6833-6849; (b) Paterson, I.; Tudge, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 343-347.
- 39 Wender, P. A.; Hilinski, M. K.; Soldermann, N.; Mooberry, S. L. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 1507-1510.
- 40. Lucas, B. S.; Luther, L. M.; Burke, S. D. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 3757-3760.
- 41. Louis, I.; Hungerford, N. L.; Humphries, E. J.; McLeod, M. D. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 1117-1120.
- 42. Ghosh, A. K.; Gong, G. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 1437-1440.
- 43. Bonazzi, S.; Güttinger, S.; Zemp, I.; Kutay, U.; Gademann, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 8707-8710.
- Dilger, A. K.; Gopalsamuthiram, V.; Burke, S. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 16273-16277
- 45. Paterson, I.; Luckhurst, C. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 3749-3754.
- 46. Paterson, I.; Steven, A.; Luckurst, C. A. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2004, 2, 3026-3038. Wender, P. A.; Hedge, S. G.; Hubbard, R. D.; Zhang, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 47. 124, 4956-4957
- Wender, P. A.; Baryza, J. L.; Bennett, C. E.; Bi, F. C.; Brenner, S. E.; Clarke, M. O.; Horan, J. C.; Kan, C.; Lacôte, E.; Lippa, B.; Nell, P. G.; Turner, T. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 13648-13649.
- 49. Joly, G. D.; Jacobsen, E. N. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1795-1798.
- 50. Bandini, M.; Cozzi, P. G.; Umani-Ronchi, A. Chem. Commun. 2002, 919-927.
- (a) Malinowska, M.; Kwiatkowski, P.; Jurczak, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 7693-7696; (b) Kwiatkowski, P.; Chaladaj, W.; Malinowska, M.; Asztemborska, M.; Jurczak, J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2005, 16, 2959-2964; (c) Malinowska, M.; Salanski, P.; Caille, J.-C.; Jurczak, J. Synthesis 2002, 18, 2707-2710.
- (a) Aikawa, K.; Irie, R.; Katsuki, T. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 845-851; (b) Mihara, J.; Aikawa, K.; Uchida, T.; Irie, R.; Katsuki, T. Heterocycles 2001, 54, 395-404.
- 53. Matsuoka, Y.; Aikawa, K.; Irie, R.; Katsuki, T. Heterocycles 2005, 66, 187-194
- Berkessel, A.; Ertürk, E.; Laporte, C. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2006, 348, 223-228.
- 55. Berkessel, A.; Vogl, N. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 5029-5035.

- 56. Gladysz, J. A. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 3215-3216 (issue 10 of Chem. Rev. was entirely dedicated to recoverable catalysts and reagents).
- 57 Yli-Kauhaluoma, J. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 7053-7071.
- (a) Pierres, C.; George, P.; van Hijfte, L.; Ducep, J. B.; Hibert, M.; Mann, A. 58. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 3645-3647; (b) Leconte, S.; Dujardin, G.; Brown, E. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 4, 639-643.
- 59. Sanz, M. A.; Voigt, T.; Waldmann, H. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2006, 348, 1511-1515.
- 60. Sellner, H.; Karjalainen, J. K.; Seebach, D. Chem.-Eur. J. 2001, 7, 2873-2887.
- 61. Heckel, A.: Seebach, D. Helv. Chim. Acta 2002, 85, 913-926.
- (a) Mellah, M.; Ansel, B.; Patureau, F.; Voituriez, A.; Schulz, E. J. Mol. Catal. A 62. 2007, 272, 20-25; (b) Zulauf, A.; Mellah, M.; Guillot, R.; Schulz, E. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 2118-2129.
- 63. Wang, B.; Feng, X.; Huang, Y.; Liu, H.; Cui, X.; Jiang, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 2175-2182.
- 64. Crimmins, M. T.; Smith, A. C. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 1003-1006.
- 65. Nadolski, G. T.; Davidson, B. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 797-800.
- 66. Lévêque, L; Le Blanc, M.; Pastor, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 5043–5046.
 67. (a) Huang, Y.; Feng, X.; Wang, B.; Zhang, G.; Jiang, Y. Synlett 2002, 2122–2124; (b) Yang, W.; Shang, D.; Liu, Y.; Du, Y.; Feng, X. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 8533– 8537
- 68 (a) Fu, Z.; Gao, B.; Yu, Z.; Yu, L.; Huang, Y.; Feng, X.; Zhang, G. Synlett 2004, 1772-1775; (b) Gao, B.; Fu, Z.; Yu, Z.; Yu, L.; Huang, Y.; Feng, X. Tetrahedron 2005. 61. 5822-5830.
- 69. Lin, L.; Chen, Z.; Yang, X.; Liu, X.; Feng, X. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 1311-1314.
- Wang, J.-K.; Zong, Y.-X.; An, H.-G.; Xue, G.-Q.; Wu, D.-Q.; Wang, Y.-S. Tetra-hedron Lett. 2005. 46, 3797–3799.
- Yang, X.-B.; Feng, J.; Zhang, J.; Wang, N.; Wang, L.; Liu, J.-L.; Yu, X.-Q. Org. Lett. 71. 2008 10 1299-1302
- 72. Yu, H.; Zhang, J.; Zhao, Y.-C.; Wang, N.; Wang, Q.; Yang, X.-B.; Yu, X.-Q. Chem. Pap. 2008, 62, 187-193.
- 73. Kii, S.; Hashimoto, T.; Maruoka, K. Synlett 2002, 931-932.
- 74. Wang, B.; Feng, X.; Huang, Y.; Liu, H.; Cui, X.; Jiang, Y. Chem. Commun. 2000, 1605 - 1606
- 75. (a) Long, J.; Hu, J.; Shen, X.; Ji, B.; Ding, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 10-11; (b) Bianchini, C.; Giambastiani, G. Chemtracts 2002, 15, 672-676.
- 76. Li, X.; Meng, X.; Su, H.; Wu, X.; Xu, D. Synlett 2008, 857-860.
- (a) Ji, B.; Yuan, Y.; Ding, K.; Meng, J. Chem.-Eur. J. 2003, 9, 5989-5996; (b) 77. Yuan, Y.; Long, J.; Sun, J.; Ding, K. Chem.—Eur. J. 2002, 8, 5033-5042.
- Omote, M.; Hasegawa, T.; Sato, K.; Ando, A.; Kumadaki, I. Heterocycles 2003, 78. 59. 501-504.
- 79 (a) Fan, Q.; Lin, L.; Liu, J.; Huang, Y.; Feng, X.; Zhang, G. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 2185-2188; (b) Fan, Q.; Lin, L.; Liu, J.; Huang, Y.; Feng, X. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 6, 3542-3552.
- (a) Davies, H. M. L.; Beckwith, R. E. J. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 2861-2904; (b) 80. Davies, H. M. L. Chemtracts 2001, 14, 642-645.
- (a) Doyle, M. P.; Phillips, I. M.; Hu, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 5366-5367; 81. (b) Doyle, M. P.; Colyer, J. J. Mol. Catal. A 2003, 196, 93-100; (c) Doyle, M. P.; Morgan, J. P.; Fettinger, J. C.; Zavalij, P. Y.; Colyer, J. T.; Timmons, D. J.; Carducci, M. D. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 5291-5301; (d) Doyle, M. P.; Valenzuela, M.; Huang, P. PNAS 2004, 101, 5391-5395.
- 82. Wang, Y.; Wolf, J.; Zavalij, P.; Doyle, M. P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 1439-1442.
- Valenzuela, M.; Doyle, M. P.; Hedberg, C.; Hu, W.; Holmstrom, A. Synlett 2004, 83. 2425-2428.
- 84. Anada, M.; Washio, T.; Shimada, N.; Kitagaki, S.; Nakajima, M.; Shiro, M.; Hashimoto, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 2665-2668.
- 85 Washio, T.; Nambu, H.; Anada, M.; Hashimoto, S. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2007, 18, 2606-2612.
- 86. Washio, T.; Yamaguchi, R.; Abe, T.; Nambu, H.; Anada, M.; Hashimoto, S. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 12037-12046.
- 87. Lin, L.; Fan, Q.; Qin, B.; Feng, X. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 4141-4146.
- 88 Landa, A.; Richter, B.; Johansen, R. L.; Minkkila, A.; Jorgensen, K. A. J. Org. Chem. 2007. 72. 240-245.
- Du, H.; Long, J.; Hu, J.; Li, X.; Ding, K. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 4349-4352.
- (a) Du, H.; Ding, K. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 1091-1093; (b) Du, H.; Zhang, X.; Wang, 90. Z.; Ding, K. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 9465-9477.
- 91. (a) Kezuka, S.; Mita, T.; Ohtsuki, N.; Ikeno, T.; Yamada, T. Chem. Lett. 2000, 824-825; (b) Kezuka, S.; Mita, T.; Ohtsuki, N.; Ikeno, T.; Yamada, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2001, 74, 1333-1342; (c) Iwakura, I.; Ikeno, T.; Yamada, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 2524–2527.
- 92. Simonsen, K. B.; Svenstrup, N.; Roberson, M.; Jorgensen, K. A. Chem.-Eur. J. 2000, 6, 123-128.
- 93. (a) Yamashita, Y.; Saito, S.; Ishitani, H.; Kobayashi, S. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1221-1223; (b) Yamashita, Y.; Saito, S.; Ishitani, H.; Kobayashi, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 3793-3798; (c) Kobayashi, S.; Ueno, M.; Saito, S.; Mizuki, Y.; Ishitani, H.; Yamashita, Y. PNAS 2004, 101, 5476-5481; (d) Seki, K.; Ueno, M.; Kobayashi, S. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2007, 5, 1347-1350.
- 94. (a) Kobayashi, S.; Sugiura, M.; Kitagawa, H.; Lam, W. W.-L. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 2227-2302; (b) Aspinall, H. C. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 1807-1850.
- 95. (a) Furuno, H.; Hanamoto, T.; Sugimoto, Y.; Inanaga, J. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 49-52; (b) Furuno, H.; Kambara, T.; Tanaka, Y.; Hanamoto, T.; Kagawa, T.; Inanaga, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 6129-6132; (c) Furuno, H.; Hayano, T.; Kambara, T.; Sugimoto, Y.; Hanamoto, T.; Tanaka, Y.; Jin, Y. Z.; Kagawa, T.; Inanaga, J. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 10509-10523.
- 96. Hayano, T.; Sakaguchi, T.; Furuno, H.; Ohba, M.; Okawa, H.; Inanaga, J. Chem. Lett. 2003, 32, 608-609.

- 97. Yu, Z.; Liu, X.; Dong, Z.; Xie, M.; Feng, X. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 1308-1311
- 98 Tiseni, P. S.; Peters, R. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 2019-2022.
- Du, H.; Zhang, X.; Wang, Z.; Bao, H.; You, T.; Ding, K. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 99. 2248-2254
- 100. Pellissier, H. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 9267-9331.
- 101. Du, H.; Zhao, D.; Ding, K. Chem.-Eur. J. 2004, 10, 5964-5970.
- 102. Zhang, X.; Du, H.; Wang, Z.; Wu, Y.-D.; Ding, K. J. Org. Chem. **2006**, 71, 2862– 2869
- 103. Gordillo, R.; Dudding, T.; Anderson, C. D.; Houk, K. N. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 501-503.
- 104. Villano, R.; Acocella, M. R.; Massa, A.; Palombi, L.; Scettri, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007. 48. 891-895.
- 105. Harriman, D. J.; Deslongchamps, G. J. Mol. Model. 2006, 12, 793-797.
- Harriman, D. J.; Lambropoulos, A.; Deslongchamps, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 106. 48, 689-692.
- 107. Unni, A. K.; Takenaka, N.; Yamamoto, H.; Rawal, V. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127. 1336-1337.
- Zhuang, W.; Poulsen, T. B.; Jorgensen, K. A. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 3284-108 3289.
- 109 Rajaram, S.; Sigman, M. S. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5473-5475.
- 110. Jensen, K. H.; Sigman, M. S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 4748-4750. Friberg, A.; Olsson, C.; Ek, F.; Berg, U.; Frejd, T. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2007, 18, 111. 885-891
- 112. Kosior, M.; Asztemborska, M.; Jurczak, J. Synthesis 2004, 1, 87-91.
- 113. Harmata, M. Chemtracts 2003, 16, 660-666
- (a) Bolm, C.; Simic, O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 3830-3831; (b) Bolm, C.; 114. Martin, M.; Simic, O.; Verrucci, M. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 427-429.
- 115. Bolm, C.; Verrucci, M.; Simic, O.; Hackenberger, C. P. R. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2005, 347, 1696-1700.
- 116 Bolm, C.; Verrucci, M.; Simic, O.; Cozzi, P. G.; Raabe, G.; Okamura, H. Chem. Commun. 2003, 2826-2827.
- Thorhauge, J.; Roberson, M.; Hazell, R. G.; Jorgensen, K. A. Chem.-Eur. J. 2002, 117 8 1888-1898
- 118. Kwiatkowski, P.; Asztemborska, M.; Caille, J.-C.; Jurczak, J. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2003, 345, 506-509,
- 119 Chaladaj, W.; Kwiatkowski, P.; Jurczak, J. Synlett 2006, 3263-3266.
- 120. Kwiatkowski, P.; Asztemborska, M.; Jurczak, J. Synlett 2004, 1755–1758.
- 121. Kwiatkowski, P.; Asztemborska, M.; Jurczak, J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15. 3189-3194.
- 122 Christmann, M.; Bhatt, U.; Quitschalle, M.; Claus, E.; Kalesse, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 4364-4366.
- 123 Quitschalle, M.; Christmann, M.; Bhatt, U.; Kalesse, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 1263-1265.
- Gong, L.-Z.; Pu, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 2327-2331 124.
- 125. Mikami, K.; Aikawa, K.; Yusa, Y.; Hatano, M. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 91-94.
- 126. Mikami, K.; Aikawa, K.; Yusa, Y. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 95-97.
- Becker, J. J.; Van Orden, L. J.; White, P. S.; Gagné, M. R. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 727-127. 730
- 128. Doherty, S.; Knight, J. G.; Hardacre, C.; Lou, H.-K.; Newman, C. R.; Rath, R. K.; Campbell, S.; Nieuwenhuyzen, M. Organometallics 2004, 23, 6127-6133.
- Motoyama, Y.; Koga, Y.; Nishiyama, H. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 853-860. 129.
- 130. Qian, C.; Wang, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 2203-2206
- 131. Tonoi, T.; Mikami, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 6355-6358.
- 132. Ghosh, A. K.; Shirai, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 6231-6233.
- 133. (a) Van Lingen, H. L.; van de Mortel, J. K. W.; Hekking, K. F. W.; van Delft, F. L.; Sonke, T.; Rutjes, F. P. J. T. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 317-324; (b) Van Lingen, H. L.; van Delft, F. L.; Storcken, R. P. M.; Hekking, K. F. W.; Klaassen, A.; Smits, J. J. M.; Ruskowska, P.; Frelek, J.; Rutjes, F. P. J. T. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 4975-4987.
- 134. Dalko, P. I.; Moisan, L.; Cossy, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 625-628.
- 135. Chapuis, C.; Gauvreau, A.; Klaebe, A.; Lattes, A.; Perie, J. J. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1973, 977-985.
- Wolf, C.; Fadul, Z.; Hawes, P. A.; Volpe, E. C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15, 136 1987-1993.
- 137. (a) El Sous, M.; Rizzacasa, M. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 8591-8594; (b) Cuzzupe, A. N.; Hutton, C. A.; Lilly, M. J.; Mann, R. K.; McRae, K. J.; Zammit, S. C.; Rizzacasa, M. A. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 2382-2393.
- 138. El Sous, M.; Ganame, D.; Tregloan, P. A.; Rizzacasa, M. A. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3001-3004.
- 139. Cravotto, G.; Nano, G. M.; Palmisano, G.; Tagliapietra, S. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2001, 12, 707-709.
- 140. Tietze, L. F. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1990, 27, 47-69.
- 141. Tietze, L. F.; Beifuss, U. In Comprehensive Organic Synthesis; Trost, B. M., Ed.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 2, p 341.
- 142. Tietze, L. F.; Rackelmann, N.; Müller, I. Chem.-Eur. J. 2004, 10, 2722-2731. Gong, J.; Bonfand, E.; Brown, E.; Dujardin, G.; Michelet, V.; Genêt, J.-P. Tetra-143.
- hedron Lett. 2003, 44, 2141-2144. Liu, H.-M.; Zou, D.-P.; Zhang, F.; Zhu, W.-G.; Peng, T. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 144.
- 2103-2106.
- Gaulon, C.; Dhal, R.; Chapin, T.; Maisonneuve, V.; Dujardin, G. J. Org. Chem. 145. 2004, 69, 4192-4202.
- Gohier, F.; Bouhadjera, K.; Faye, D.; Gaulon, C.; Maisonneuve, V.; Dujardin, G.; 146 Dhal, R. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 211-214.
- 147. Tardy, S.; Tatibouët, A.; Rollin, P.; Dujardin, G. Synlett 2006, 1425-1427.

H. Pellissier / Tetrahedron 65 (2009) 2839-2877

- Shuttleworth, S. J.; Allin, S. M.; Wilson, R. D.; Nasturica, D. Synthesis 2000, 1035–1074.
- 149. Dujardin, G.; Leconte, S.; Coutable, L.; Brown, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 8849–8852.
- 150. Evans, D. A.; Starr, J. T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 1787-1790.
- Chittiboyina, A. G.; Reddy, C. R.; Watkins, E. B.; Avery, M. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 1689–1691.
- Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Narsimhaswamy, D.; Naga Lakshmi, P.; Narsimulu, K.; Srinivasulu, G.; Kunwar, A. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2004**, *45*, 3493–3497.
- Sabitha, G.; Reddy, E. V.; Fatima, N.; Yadav, J. S.; Rama Krishna, K. V. S.; Kunwar, A. C. Synthesis **2004**, 8, 1150–1154.
- 154. Bartolozzi, A.; Capozzi, G.; Menichetti, S.; Nativi, C. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 251–253.
- Tamarez, M. M.; Franck, R. W.; Geer, A. *Tetrahedron* **2003**, *59*, 4249–4259.
 Marzabadi, C. H.; Franck, R. W.; Schinazi, R. F. Bioorg. Med. Chem. **2002**, *10*, 273–281.
- 157. Gizecki, P.; Dhal, R.; Toupet, L.; Dujardin, G. Org. Lett. **2000**, *2*, 585–588.
- 158. Gizecki, P.; Dhal, R.; Poulard, C.; Gosselin, P.; Dujardin, G. J. Org. Chem. 2003,
- 68, 4338–4344.
 Paull, D. H.; Wolfer, J.; Grebinski, J. W.; Weatherwax, A.; Lectka, T. Chimia 2007, 61, 240–246.
- Taggi, A. E.; Hafez, A. M.; Wack, H.; Young, B.; Ferraris, D.; Lectka, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 6626–6635.
- 161. Aoyagi, Y.; Takahashi, Y.; Satake, Y.; Fukaya, H.; Takeya, K.; Aiyama, R.; Matsuzaki, T.; Hashimoto, S.; Shiina, T.; Kurihara, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2005**, 46, 7885–7887.
- 162. Majetich, G.; Zou, G. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 81-83.
- 163. (a) Audrain, H.; Thorhauge, J.; Hazell, R. G.; Jorgensen, K. A. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 4487–4497; (b) Zhuang, W.; Thorhauge, J.; Jorgensen, K. A. Chem. Commun. 2000, 459–460; (c) Johnson, J. S.; Evans, D. A. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 325–335; (d) Evans, D. A.; Johnson, J. S.; Olhava, E. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 1635–1649.
- 164. (a) Koga, H.; Wada, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 715–719; (b) Wada, E.; Koga, H.; Kumaran, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 9397–9400.
- 165. Rechavi, D.; Lemaire, M. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 3467-3494.
- 166. Stavenger, R. A.; Schreiber, S. L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 3417-3421.
- 167. Kurosu, M.; Porter, J. R.; Foley, M. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 145–148.
- 168. Tallarico, J. A.; Depew, K. M.; Pelish, H. E.; Westwood, N. J.; Lindsley, C. W.; Shair, M. D.; Schreiber, S. L.; Foley, M. A. J. Comb. Chem. **2001**, 3, 312–318.

- 169. Wan, Y.; McMorn, P.; Hancock, F. E.; Hutchings, G. J. Catal. Lett. 2003, 91, 145–148.
- O'Leary, P.; Krosveld, N. P.; De Jong, K. P.; van Koten, G.; Klein Gebbink, R. J. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 3177–3180.
- 171. (a) Welton, T. Chem. Rev. **1999**, 99, 2071–2083; (b) Wasserscheid, P.; Keim, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **2000**, 39, 3772–3789; (c) Dupont, J.; de Souza, R. F.; Suarez, P. A. Z. Chem. Rev. **2002**, 102, 3667–3691.
- 172. (a) Chauvin, Y.; Mussmann, L.; Oliver, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1996, 35, 2698–2700; (b) Sheldon, R. Chem. Commun. 2001, 2399–2407.
- 173. Je Shing, Y.; Yeom, C.-E.; Kim, M. J.; Kim, B. M. Synlett 2008, 89–93.
- 174. Gademann, K.; Chavez, D. E.; Jacobsen, E. N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 3059–3061.
- 175. Chavez, D. E.; Jacobsen, E. N. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2563-2565.
- 176. (a) Gao, X.; Hall, D. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 9308–9309; (b) Deligny, M.; Carreaux, F.; Toupet, L.; Carboni, B. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2003, 345, 1215–1219.
- 177. Deligny, M.; Carreaux, F.; Carboni, B. Synlett 2005, 1462–1464.
- 178. Carreaux, F.; Favre, A.; Carboni, B.; Rouaud, I.; Boustie, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2006**, 47, 4545–4548.
- 179. Gao, X.; Hall, D. G.; Deligny, M.; Favre, A.; Carreaux, F.; Carboni, B. Chem.—Eur. J. 2006, 12, 3132–3142.
- 180. Gao, X.; Hall, D. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 1628–1629.
- Desimoni, G.; Faita, G.; Toscanini, M.; Boiocchi, M. Chem.-Eur. J. 2007, 13, 9478-9485.
- 182. Desimoni, G.; Faita, G.; Mella, M.; Piccinini, F.; Toscanini, M. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2007**, 1529–1534.
- 183. Paull, D. H.; Alden-Danforth, E.; Wolfer, J.; Dogo-Isonagie, C.; Abraham, C. J.; Lectka, T. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 5380–5382.
- Wolfer, J.; Bekele, T.; Abraham, C. J.; Dogo-Isonagie, C.; Lectka, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 7398–7400.
- 185. Juhl, K.; Jorgensen, K. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 1498-1501.
- 186. Bekele, T.; Shah, M. H.; Wolfer, J.; Abraham, C. J.; Weatherwax, A.; Lectka, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 1810–1811.
- 187. He, M.; Uc, G. J.; Bode, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 15088-15089.
- Hernandez-Juan, F. A.; Cockfield, D. M.; Dixon, D. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 1605–1608.
- 189. Samanta, S.; Krause, J.; Mandal, T.; Zhao, C.-G. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 2745-2748.
- 190. Zhao, Y.; Wang, X.-J.; Liu, J.-T. Synlett 2008, 1017–1020.

Biographical sketch



Hélène Pellissier was born in Gap, France. She carried out her Ph.D. under the supervision of Dr G. Gil in Marseille and then entered the Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique in 1988. After a postdoctoral period in Professor K.P.C. Vollhardt's group, she joined the group of Professor M. Santelli in Marseille in 1992, where she focused on the chemistry of BISTRO and its large application in organic synthesis. Thus, she developed several new very short total syntheses of steroids starting from 1,3-butadiene and benzocyclobutenes.